

Australian Government Department of Employment

JSA Quality Standards Pilot

Evaluation Report

employment.gov.au

ISBN

978-1-74361-861-5 [PDF] 978-1-74361-862-2 [DOCX]



With the exception of the Commonwealth Coat of Arms, the Department's logo, any material protected by a trade mark and where otherwise noted all material presented in this document is provided under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia</u> (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/</u>) licence.

The details of the relevant licence conditions are available on the Creative Commons website (accessible using the links provided) as is the full legal code for the <u>CC BY 3.0 AU licence</u> (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/legalcode</u>).

The document must be attributed as the JSA Quality Standard Pilot Evaluation Report.

Contents

Executive Summary5			
1. Intr	oduction12		
1.1	The Existing model		
1.2	The Quality Assurance Framework12		
1.3	The JSA Quality Standards Pilot16		
1.4	Pilot status		
2. Eva	luation of the Quality Standards Pilot17		
2.1	Authority17		
2.2	Evaluation scope17		
2.3	Data sources and limitations18		
3. Pre	paration for Pilot Quality Assurance Framework implementation		
3.1	Sources of information22		
3.2	Appropriateness of information28		
3.3	Summary		
4. Imp	lementation of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework		
4.1	Choice of Quality Standard by Providers32		
4.2	Auditor selection		
4.3	Communication with auditor35		
4.4	Conduct of the audit		
4.5	Challenges undertaking the Pilot and implementing the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework40		
4.6	Summary49		
5. Imp	pact of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework on delivery of employment services51		
5.1	Data limitations		

5.2	Client impacts55		
5.3	Impact on Provider operations60		
5.4	Cost / benefit considerations69		
5.5	Summary71		
	siderations for the future implementation of a Quality Assurance Framework employment services75		
6.1	Preparation of Providers and auditors for audit process75		
6.2	The Quality Standards and the Quality Principles76		
6.3	Monitoring and evaluating the impact of the QAF into the future77		
7. Cor	clusion79		
Appendi	x A: Quality Assurance Framework81		
Appendi	x B: Data sources		
Appendix C: Data tables			

Executive Summary

The performance of Employment Service Providers (Providers) under Job Services Australia (JSA) is currently monitored, measured and evaluated against three Key Performance Indicators (KPI), the Code of Practice and the Service Guarantees for the Services. KPI 1 and 2 form the basis of the current Star Ratings model. KPI 3 performance is assessed using five quality measures covering manually rejected special claims, Individualised Employment Pathway Plans, active engagement of participants, participant experience and department received complaints.

Feedback from industry and contract management activity suggested that the existing KPI 3 Quality Framework used to assess Provider performance does not provide enough practical information to support continuous improvement in service quality. In response, the Department of Employment (the department) developed a new approach to supporting quality improvement through establishing a new Quality Assurance Framework. The department flagged in the 2012-15 JSA Request for Tender its intention to move towards independent assessment against industry standards.

The new Quality Assurance Framework was designed with an emphasis on quality service delivery within the Employment Services Deed, containing two audit components:

- Certification by an independent auditor against one of four Quality Standards deemed acceptable by the department: Standard ISO 9001, Employment Services Industry Standards, Disability Service Standards and Investors in People.
- Adherence to eight overarching Quality Principles (as detailed in Table 1.3) with supporting Key Performance Measures.

Relationships between elements of the new Quality Assurance Framework and the audit components are depicted in <u>Appendix A</u>.

A pilot test commenced on 1 January 2013 to enable Providers and the department to work together to test the proposed Quality Assurance Framework. The Quality Standards Pilot (the Pilot) was intended to operate for 12 months but on request from some Providers was extended to 31 March 2014.

A total of 48 Providers initially commenced in the Pilot, made up of two groups: Providers who were required to participate due to poor performance in the Programme Assurance Audit of Provider Brokered Outcome claims (12 Providers) and Providers who volunteered to participate (36 Providers). As at 26 May 2014, 14 volunteer Providers had withdrawn from the Pilot leaving a remaining 34 Providers to be considered for certification. Of these Providers, 25 had received certification against the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework and nine were awaiting certification.

Evaluation of the Quality Standards Pilot

It was initially anticipated that an external consultant would be engaged to complete an evaluation by July 2014. In late December 2013 the department determined that evaluation would be

conducted internally to give Providers an extended lead-time to prepare for certification under the new contract. Evaluation of the Pilot was conducted by the department's Evaluation, Industry Adjustment and Workplace Development Branch.

Evaluation of the Pilot has aimed to inform the department and Minister of Employment of the suitability of the new Quality Assurance Framework for the whole of industry as part of the new employment services contract which is planned to be introduced from 1 July 2015.

Evaluation scope

The Pilot Management Plan states that the Pilot's success would be measured against two key criteria:

- Did the Pilot achieve its goals and will the resulting QAF drive continuous improvement?
- The impact of Quality Standards on Providers: Does the adoption of Quality Standards result in improvements to services delivered by Providers to participants, employers and the department? Is there benefit realisation between the cost to Providers and improvements to the services?

The evaluation concentrated on reviewing the implementation of the new Quality Assurance Framework through the Pilot process with a view to answering, as far as possible, the two overarching questions. It has considered lessons to be learned from the process and any improvements required to ensure an effective national roll-out of a Quality Assurance Framework as part of the new employment services contract.

Evaluation focused on the following key areas to assess the Pilot's success:

- 1 Preparation of Providers for implementation of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework, including consideration of the effectiveness and appropriateness of information disseminated to Providers and auditors.
- 2 Implementation of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework, examining Provider choice of Quality Standard, preparation for and conduct of the audit as well as challenges experienced.
- 3 Impact of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework on Providers' delivery of employment services, in terms of their clients and the Provider organisation.
- 4 Considerations for future implementation of a Quality Assurance Framework.

Data from a number of sources was examined, including administrative data (specifically, available KPI 3 data), Provider experiences, auditor experiences and departmental Account Manager feedback. Further information about the data collection methods used in this evaluation is contained in <u>Appendix B</u>. The data supporting this analysis is contained in <u>Appendix C</u>.

It has not been possible to objectively measure for this evaluation all of the benefits associated with the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework, as the effect on job seeker experiences and outcomes within the relatively short timeframe of the Pilot is likely to be limited. The evaluation was also unable to measure and report on direct impacts on services received by job seekers and employers. The evaluation has considered in broad terms the benefits and value of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework by relying primarily on Providers' perceptions. Participating Providers were not a random sample of Providers. There is some risk that the views expressed do not represent the full range of views that would exist among all Providers on issues highlighted by the Pilot. There could also be an element of 'pilot effect' reflected in the results because Pilot participants are generally enthusiastic about the impact that their increased efforts will have (noting that this is less likely for Pilot Providers who were required to participate).

The timeframe available to evaluate the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework imposed a number of limitations.

- The capacity to design a comprehensive evaluation and supporting data collection tools was limited and data collected prior to the involvement of the evaluation branch was of limited use.
- Some surveys were in the field for shorter periods than would ideally have been the case, ultimately limiting the number of respondents and the capacity for detailed analysis (this was particularly the case for auditors).
- It was not possible to assess the full impact of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework or to capture medium to long-term effects. The evaluation has assessed the *potential* of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework to improve service experiences and outcomes for job seekers and employers indirectly, through the feedback of participating Providers.

Summary of findings

Main finding

An aim of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework was to encourage Providers to strive for continuous improvement in the delivery of employment services. Feedback collected through this evaluation suggests respondents believe that the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework will drive continuous improvement and may have greater potential than the current KPI 3 Quality Framework.

- 86 per cent of Quality Managers did not disagree that the audit focused on continuous improvement; a minority (11 per cent) thought it was 'too early to tell'.
- Quality Managers were given the opportunity to identify the main benefit of participating in the Pilot. One in four who responded said that continuous improvement had been a key benefit.

While there is no administrative data available to objectively measure the impact of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework, Provider Chief Executive Officers (CEO), Quality Managers (who were Provider nominated staff within the organisation tasked with the responsibility of managing the Pilot process) and front line staff reported positive impacts on their businesses and service delivery. They were also optimistic about the longer term prospects of the revised Quality Assurance Framework for delivering improved services to job seekers and, perhaps to a lesser extent, employers.

Balanced against these benefits, the time and cost to participate in the Pilot exceeded some Providers' expectations and does appear to have been significant in some cases: two-thirds of Providers indicated that time and costs associated with the Pilot were greater than expected (for more details refer to *Implementation issues* below). Some of this can be accounted for in a lack of preparedness for the audit, for instance, a poor choice of Quality Standard for the organisation to certify against or not having correct documentation on hand for the auditor. Factors beyond the control of Providers also contributed, including overlap between the Quality Standards and Quality Principles (and the Key Performance Measures within them), waiting for the Employment Services Industry Standards to be certified and an apparent lack of understanding of the process, the Deed and JSA more generally, among some auditors.

It is noted that the Pilot process was intended to refine both the Quality Assurance Framework and its implementation. The department has already commenced work to address a number of the issues the evaluation has identified to streamline the process to reduce costs and ease large-scale implementation of a new national Quality Assurance Framework.

Detailed findings

Information and communication

The department disseminated information about the Pilot via a number of sources. Providers and auditors generally agreed that the communication was suitable and useful. Opportunities for improvement were identified for webinar information sessions, which worked well for auditors but less so for Providers, and Govdex, with many Providers and auditors either not aware or not seeing value in this resource.

Certification process

Providers were able to select one of four Quality Standards to certify against within the 12 month Pilot period. The process of selecting a Quality Standard to certify against was not simple and onefifth of Providers reported they had switched from their original choice. A number of Providers withdrew from the process as they were not able to meet the required timeframes.

Challenges around Quality Standard selection arose because the requirements vary for each Standard and some are more appropriate for particular business models and caseload sizes. Comments suggest that certification against Disability Service Standards for JSA purposes was more onerous than the other Quality Standards, particularly in terms of the job seeker interview requirement. The time required to certify against Employment Services Industry Standards was especially problematic and also impacted upon selection.

Job seeker interviews were raised by several auditors as having disrupted the audit process and contributed to delays. However, Providers were generally positive about the knowledge obtained directly from job seekers. As Providers become more aware and better prepared for the audit process it is expected that the process of interviewing job seekers will be less challenging for auditors.

Auditors and Providers agree the audit should focus more on how the Providers managed the process rather than sampling a specified number of transactions.

Implementation issues

Half of the responding Providers indicated that 12 to 18 months is a reasonable timeframe for implementation. There was significant variation in the responses for the amount of time spent supporting the audit process, ranging from zero to 6,088 hours of staff time. The median reported preparation time was 500 hours.

Financial costs associated with the Pilot (as reported by Providers) varied significantly. To prepare for an audit the:

- highest cost reported by a Quality Manager was \$260,000 and \$250,000 by a CEO
- lowest cost quoted by both a Quality Manager and a CEO was \$10,000, and
- overall median cost was \$47,500.

Reported costs for conducting an audit were lower than for audit preparation. The:

- highest cost reported by a Quality Manager was \$150,000 and \$100,000 by a CEO
- lowest cost reported by a Quality Manager was \$2,700 and \$4,000 by a CEO, and
- overall median cost was \$36,000.

A further challenge documented by Providers and auditors was the duplication between the Quality Principles and the Quality Standards, as well as some Key Performance Measures within. While it is important to capture multiple aspects of a Provider's business to gauge quality, duplicating the assessment of any part of the business is inefficient and places a greater burden on Providers' time, money and resources. Identification of areas of duplication would have better prepared the Providers and auditors to conduct a more efficient audit.

Account Managers offered limited insight into the impact that the Pilot had on the delivery of employment services. As with KPI 3 data, Account Managers have not yet observed any significant changes to Provider performance, possibly because their feedback was collected too early in the process. Almost half observed improvements to business processes and a quarter identified changes to staff engagement. Account Managers who responded to questions on the potential value of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework were mostly positive but a relatively high number of neutral or "don't know" responses possibly indicates that Account Managers were not heavily involved in the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework development process.

Cost / benefit considerations

The evaluation considers that reasonable balance between benefits and cost is a critical issue but it has been difficult to ascertain if this has been achieved.

Participating Providers indicated that they have seen short-term improvements to client services and business operations and most expect to see positive long-term effects. There was overwhelming agreement that involvement in the Pilot had been a worthwhile investment of time. Feedback from Providers should not be relied upon exclusively to provide an objective assessment of whether the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework has driven improvements to service delivery. This level of analysis cannot be undertaken until the views of clients, such as job seekers and employers are collected and considered.

On the question of whether the audit represented 'value for money' Providers were more reserved: just over one-third of CEOs agreed or strongly agreed and over one quarter disagreed.

As the department and Providers become more familiar with the intricacies and processes involved in establishing and maintaining a Quality Assurance Framework it is reasonable to expect that costs will reduce or at least become more predictable. The reaction of the wider field of Providers to this aspect of the Pilot is likely to be a key factor in the successful promotion and implementation of a new Quality Assurance Framework.

Recommendations

In conclusion, if cost and time requirements are managed to be within reasonable limits it is anticipated that a national Quality Assurance Framework based on independent assessment against Quality Standards will benefit all parties and may prove superior to the current KPI 3 Quality Framework. To help Providers strike a reasonable balance between benefits and costs it is recommended that the department:

- 1 Explore options to better educate Providers about the administration of the audit and the certification process, including the time it takes to achieve certification. In particular, re-evaluate webinar content for Providers to include more practical information (real world examples from Providers who have already gone through the process) and make them more interactive.
- 2 Explore options to ensure auditors are better prepared for the audit, in terms of their knowledge of employment services, the JSA model and the Employment Services Deed, and understand the quality and level of detail required in audit reports. For instance:
 - Provide copies of best practice audit reports.
 - Provide an initial face-to-face information session for auditors on the panel, as well as regular information sessions to provide updates regarding audit practices.
 - For the purpose of certifying against the Quality Assurance Framework, restrict the auditor panel maintained by the department to auditors who have some working knowledge of employment services.
 - Provide an Auditor Portal, or access to a section of the Provider Portal, to make information readily available to auditors.
 - Schedule auditor webinar presentations well in advance and provide sufficient notice.
 - Promote the availability of recorded webinar presentations on Govdex.
- 3 Tailor the content and amount of written information available to auditors and Providers and consider options to supplement written information, for example by continuing (and promoting) the availability of the central Quality Assurance Framework phone number and email address.
- 4 Provide information on the requirements of each Quality Standard to guide Providers in their selection of a Quality Standard for their business model. Supply information that maps the departmental Quality Principles with each of the Quality Standards.

- 5 Continue the work already commenced to streamline the sampling requirements and reduce the duplication between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles (and the Key Performance Measures within).
- 6 Consider how best to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of a future Quality Assurance Framework on an ongoing basis, taking into account the appropriateness and relevance of retaining the current KPI 3 as a measure of quality assurance, given the requirements of Quality Standards and Quality Principles. Explore options to ensure the views of Account Managers, job seekers, employers and auditors are better captured.
- 7 Consider options to increase Account Managers' involvement in Quality Assurance Framework development and implementation.

Response to the Recommendations

The overall finding of the Evaluation is encouraging.Results of the Evaluation confirm that the introduction of industry standards into the employment services market will drive continuous improvement to enhance the quality of services delivered to job seekers, employers and the department. However the recommendations made by the Evaluation indicate that the QAF could benefit from some modification in order to improve its operation and strengthen its capability. In that context the department is taking a number of steps to address the recommendations:

- The department is proposing to conduct training webinars for providers to assist them in understanding of what is involved in seeking certification.
- The department is establishing the QAF Auditor List which will comprise Conformity Assessment Bodies who can:
 - o certify providers against at least one of the approved Quality Standards; and
 - o assess providers against the department's Quality Principles.
- The department is preparing information to assist auditors to conduct audits under the QAF, including details in relation to employment services, as well as templates to assist with developing Audit Plans and Audit Reports.
- The department will also facilitate webinars for auditors to address changes between the Pilot and the QAF, discuss examples of best practice and the department's expectations of auditors under the QAF.
- The department has conducted a review of the Quality Principles to remove areas of duplication identified during the Pilot and introduced the concept of Standard Centric Principles which align more closely with Quality Standards and Deed Centric Principles which bridge the gap between the generic requirements of the Standards and the qualitative requirements of the Deed.

By broadening the Key Performance Indicator 3 in the 2015-20 Employment Services, the QAF has become one of the three key elements in assessing quality and assurance. The QAF in the new Employment Programme will become a fundamental tool for Account Managers. While the benefits of achieving certification have been well documented, the ongoing success of the QAF and indeed each provider's Quality Management System relies on a continued focus on improvement and genuine engagement of employees at all levels.

1. Introduction

The Job Services Australia (JSA) Quality Standards Pilot (the Pilot) was established to enable Employment Services Providers (Providers) and the Department of Employment (the department) to work together to finalise the operational detail of a revised Quality Assurance Framework (the QAF) for the next employment services contracts¹.

1.1 The Existing model

Under the existing model, Provider performance is monitored, measured and evaluated against Key Performance Indicators (KPI) (see Table 1.1), the Code of Practice and the Service Guarantees (as relevant).

Table 1.1: Key Performance Indicators			
KPI	Description		
KPI 1	The average time that the Provider takes, compared to the time taken by other employment services providers, to assist relevant participants into employment.		
KPI 2	The proportion of relevant participants for whom job seeker placements, job seeker outcomes, off-benefit outcomes and social outcomes are achieved, in accordance with the requirements of the Deed.		
KPI 3	The delivery of quality services under this Deed, the Service Guarantees and the Code of Practice.		

KPI 1 and 2 form the basis of the current Star Ratings model. KPI 3 performance is assessed using five quality measures covering claims, Employment Pathway Plans, active engagement of participants, participant experience and department received complaints.

Providers focus heavily on Star Ratings and less on improving their performance against KPI 3. This is because Star Ratings are integral to Providers' formal performance assessments and are used to inform the department's business reallocation process and purchasing decisions.

1.2 The Quality Assurance Framework

On the basis of feedback from industry and contract management activity, in 2012 the department identified that the existing KPI 3 Quality Framework was not providing practical information for Providers to continuously improve their quality of service delivery. In response, the department proposed to develop and test a new approach to quality measurement, monitoring and assurance. Three main stages were identified:

- 1 Establish a revised QAF (conceptualised at <u>Appendix A</u>) following extensive consultation with industry.
- 2 Pilot test and evaluate the proposed framework.
- 3 Introduce the new QAF across the whole of industry following the evaluation of the Pilot.

¹ Planned to be introduced from 1 July 2015.

The Pilot QAF differed from the existing model in that it placed greater emphasis on quality service delivery within the Employment Services Deed and imposes two new requirements in addition to KPI 3 (three key requirements in total).

1 Certification against one of four Quality Standards

A new feature under the revised QAF, required Providers to gain certification in one of four Quality Standards deemed acceptable by the department (Table 1.2). Certification was conducted by an independent auditor, selected by the Provider from an audit panel maintained by the department (which was made up of organisations who were registered against the Joint Accreditation System of Australia & New Zealand (JAS-ANZ) and were willing to participate in the Pilot). The cost was borne by the Provider. Consistent with the existing model, Quality Standards certification included a selfaudit requirement, the details of which varied according to the Quality Standard adopted by the Provider.

Initially, three Quality Standards were agreed upon for inclusion in the Pilot by the department:

- Standard ISO 9001, which is the most commonly-used world-wide standard.
- Disability Service Standards, which is a standard that is used extensively by Disability Employment Services (DES) Providers.
- Employment Services Industry Standards, which was chosen in consultation with National Employment Services Association because it was designed 'for industry by industry'.

After consultation with Jobs Australia, the department also considered standards used in the United Kingdom. After conducting a gap analysis, Investors in People was included in the Pilot which is the most commonly used United Kingdom standard.

With the exception of the Employment Services Industry Standards, these standards are not specifically designed for employment services. Providers with existing contracts may also be disability services providers, Registered Training Organisations, and provide any number of other services where their business model is suited to one of the different standards offered.

Quality Standard	Description
Standard ISO 9001	ISO 9001 is an internationally recognised quality standard that enshrines a quality management system as an integral part of the organisation's operations. The Australian Standard is identical to the ISO 9001. Both are acceptable and are recognised within Australia as an appropriate continuous improvement tool for use by a range of industry sectors.
Employment Services Industry Standards (ESIS)	ESIS has been developed by the National Employment Services Association (NESA) and is a quality standard developed by the employment services industry for the employment and related service industries. ESIS is a Joint Accreditation System of Australia & New Zealand (JAS-ANZ) endorsed quality standard and a recognised Standard for the employment services industry.

Table 1.2: Quality Standards Providers choose for certification

Quality Standard	Description
Disability Service Standards (DSS)	The DSS provides the basis for the DES Quality Framework, which is based on the same four quality measures as JSA (provider capability, service delivery, engagement, and client experience). The DSS covers a range of aspects that would be required under the new QAF, where a Provider is already certified against the DSS for its JSA business, no additional Quality Standard certification would be required.
Investors in People (liP)	The IiP Standard is a business improvement tool designed to advance an organisation's performance through its employees. The Quality Standard is outcome focused, outlining what needs to be achieved, but not how. IiP Australia is licensed by the governing body in the United Kingdom (Commission for Employment and Skills) to grow and deliver the Quality Standard.

2 Meet overarching Quality Principles with supporting key performance measures

Providers needed to meet eight Quality Principles, as detailed in Table 1.3. Adherence to the Quality Principles is determined by a department-approved auditor.

The Quality Principles were designed to reflect the requirements of the Employment Services Deed and bridge the gaps between the requirements in each Quality Standard. When the Quality Principles were drafted it was anticipated there would be some overlap with the Quality Standards. This was to be revisited after the Pilot process when it was better understood which Quality Standards the Providers preferred and where overlaps existed between the Quality Principles and the Quality Standards.

Principle	Description
Satisfaction with services and provision of individualised and tailored services	Provider has in place strategies for monitoring and measuring participant satisfaction. The monitoring of this satisfaction will inform continuous improvement in service delivery to participants and employers. Provider also has in place mechanisms and strategies to ensure that each participant and employer receives a service that is designed to meet their individual needs and, where appropriate, personal goals. These needs and goals are then used as the basis for service provision with the Provider undertaking a process of planning, implementation, review and adjustment to facilitate the achievement of these goals.
Effective corporate governance arrangements, including management systems	Strong governance, operational effectiveness and efficiency through corporate arrangements and management systems, practices that optimise outcomes for themselves, participants and employers. This includes a supportive organisational culture and effective financial controls and communication mechanisms.
High level of leadership	Strong leadership that establishes organisational direction and purpose and supports a positive organisational reputation.

Table 1.3: The eight departmental Pilot Quality Principle		
Principle	Description	

Principle	Description
Effective planning strategies	Effective planning mechanisms that support continuous improvement across the organisation including people and performance management and financial capability including fraud prevention.
A supportive working environment that values the development of its people through staffing and organisational development plans	Each person employed to deliver services by the Provider has the relevant skills and competency. Plans and mechanisms are in place to identify these skills and competencies, and to ensure that these skills are maintained and enhanced through training and skills development. This also includes Indigenous and Disability Employment Strategies.
An effective set of measurement tools across all areas of operations	Adopts quality management systems and practices that optimise outcomes for participants and employers. This also includes mechanisms to ensure that practices adopted by the Provider result in quality, robust services and adhere to the principles of privacy and confidentiality and support better practice.
Effective arrangements for communicating with clients, including facilitating resolution of client complaints.	Employs systems and technologies that allow for communication with all participants and employers, including access to interpreters and/or disability assistance services. In addition, participants and employers are encouraged to raise, and have resolved without fear of retribution, any complaints or disputes he or she may have regarding the Provider or the service.
An understanding of and ability to develop and build strong labour market presence.	Builds strong labour market presence, in both their local area and the wider community with a variety of stakeholders.

3 Satisfy the five KPI 3 performance measures

KPI 3 was retained as a measure of quality under the Pilot QAF as it was envisaged that the introduction of the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles would build on existing policy.

The existing KPI 3 performance measures include:

- *Claims:* This measure will initially focus on the rejection rate of Manual Special Claims but has scope to include other claims as data is tested and reported and becomes available.
- Individualised Employment Pathway Plans (EPPs): This measure assesses the individualised nature of EPPs and their compliance with legislative Deed requirement.
- Active Engagement of Participants: While reporting for this measure is still under development, it will focus on key aspects of service such as time from referral to commencement.
- *Participant Experience:* This measure will consider feedback received from participants through the department's Post-Program Monitoring surveys.
- Department Received Complaints: This measure will provide a score based on complaints received by the department, where a Provider has been contacted to respond to a complaint.

1.3 The JSA Quality Standards Pilot

In the 2012-15 JSA Request for Tender, the department flagged that it was moving towards introducing industry standards that would be independently assessed. Following the outcome of the Provider Brokered Outcome Audit the department reviewed its arrangements for monitoring and managing risks in relation to service delivery. As a result, the department decided to undertake the Pilot to test the efficacy of the proposed QAF, mandating that Providers who had performed poorly in the Provider Brokered Outcome Audit participate.

The Pilot was intended to operate for 12 months from January to December 2013 but at the request of some Providers the period was extended to 31 March 2014. There were two groups of Providers involved in the Pilot:

- Group 1 was required to participate due to poor performance in the Programme Assurance Audit of Provider Brokered Outcome claims. This group was required to demonstrate adherence (as determined by an audit) to Quality Principles 2, 4 and 5 (excluding Key Performance Measure 5.4) by 31 March 2013 (known as 'Activity 1') before seeking certification against a Quality Standard and seeking auditor verification that they had adhered to all eight Quality Principles (known as 'Activity 2').
- Group 2 consisted of Providers who volunteered to participate. The volunteer group participated only in Activity 2.

1.4 Pilot status

The status of the Pilot at various points in the process is provided in Table 1.4 below.

Progress	Number of Providers		
Providers who participated in the Pilot			
As at 1 January 2013	48 (12 Activity 1 and 36 Activity 2)		
As at 31 December 2013	43 (12 Activity 1 and 31 Activity 2)		
As at 31 May 2014	34 (12 Activity 1 and 22 Activity 2)		
Providers who withdrew from the Pilot			
As at 31 December 2013	5		
As at 26 May 2014	14		
Providers who have submitted audit reports			
As at 1 January 2014	20		
As at 26 May 2014	34		
Providers who have been approved and notified of certification			
As at 26 May 2014	25		

2. Evaluation of the Quality Standards Pilot

2.1 Authority

In February 2013, the department agreed to a detailed Pilot Management Plan which outlined the approach to managing the Pilot, including a strategy to measure its success. It was initially anticipated that an evaluation of the Pilot would be finalised by July 2014. Having originally considered engaging an external consultant to conduct the evaluation, in late December 2013 the department agreed it would be carried out internally in a shorter timeframe to allow Providers an extended lead-time to prepare for certification under the new contract. This was agreed on the basis of feedback received from Pilot participants and peaks which suggested that, for some Providers, the one year timeframe had not been enough to achieve certification against a Quality Standard.

The department's Evaluation, Industry Adjustment and Workforce Development Branch was engaged to undertake the evaluation as they had the required expertise and had different reporting lines from the policy area. The limited notice provided to the Evaluation Branch and the restriced timeframe in which to conduct the evaluation of the Pilot has imposed a number of limitations on the scope of the evaluation.

Firstly, the capacity to design a comprehensive evaluation and supporting data collection has been limited. This has meant some data that was collected prior to engagement of the Evaluation Branch has only been used in a restricted manner, or in some cases precluded altogether.

The shortened timeframe has also restricted the time available to collect data for the evaluation. Some surveys were in the field for shorter periods than would have ideally been the case, which has limited the number of respondents and ultimately meant this data can only be used qualitatively (particularly the case for auditors). The timeframe to analyse the data and present the findings of this evaluation has also been restricted.

Further, the extent to which the Pilot QAF can be evaluated in its entireity has been impacted by the compressed timeframes. As the evaluation report was due within one month of the end of the Pilot extension, it was not possible to capture medium to long term effects. The evaluation was unable to assess whether the Pilot QAF was associated with measurable changes in the service experiences of job seekers, and other clients, such as employers, other than indirectly through the feedback of participating Providers.

2.2 Evaluation scope

The Pilot Management Plan states the Pilot's success would be measured against two key criteria:

- Did the Pilot achieve its goals and will the resulting QAF drive continuous improvement?
- The impact of Quality Standards on Providers: Does the adoption of Quality Standards result in improvements to services delivered by Providers to participants, employers and the department? Is there benefit realisation between the cost to Providers and improvements to the services?

The aims of the Pilot QAF, as outlined in the Pilot Instructions, were to:

- encourage Providers to strive for continuous improvement in the delivery of employment services
- clarify the department's expectation of Providers on the delivery of quality employment services, and
- provide a transparent metric for service quality.

The evaluation concentrated primarily on reviewing the implementation of the revised QAF through the Pilot process with a view to answering, as far as possible, the overarching questions detailed in the Pilot Management Plan. It has considered lessons to be learned from the process and where improvements can be made to more effectively roll out the QAF in the future.

The evaluation has considered, to the extent possible given the limitations above, the benefits and value of implementing a new QAF for the department. While the impact of the QAF on Pilot participants has been considered, any effect on job seeker experiences and outcomes is expected to be limited given the relatively short timeframe in which the Pilot has operated and the inability of this evaluation to observe medium to long term impacts.

With this in mind, the evaluation has focused on the following key areas to assess the Pilot's success:

- 1 Preparation of Providers and auditors for implementation of the Pilot QAF, including consideration of the effectiveness and appropriateness of information disseminated to Providers and auditors.
- 2 Implementation of the Pilot QAF, which examines Provider choice of Quality Standard, preparation for and conduct of the audit as well as challenges experienced while undertaking the Pilot and implementing the revised QAF.
- 3 Impact of the Pilot QAF on Providers' delivery of employment services, in terms of job seekers and employers and the Provider organisation.

2.3 Data sources and limitations

2.3.1 Sample

The Pilot sample consisted of Activity 1 and Activity 2 Providers (refer Section 1.3). Given the purposive nature of selection into the Pilot, there is a risk that participating Providers are not a representative sample of all Providers. In this case it would not be appropriate to extrapolate results to the wider Provider population.

Providers who withdrew from the Pilot were in scope for the evaluation. Providers who completed the Pilot in the extension period (1 January 2014 to 31 March 2014) remained in scope for the evaluation.

2.3.2 Administrative data

The baseline data available for the evaluation is limited to the five quantitative measures collected six-monthly for KPI 3 assessment (as mentioned in Section 1.1, this was the only quantitative measure of quality used by the department prior to the Pilot).

To see any indicative changes resulting from the Pilot, data from four six monthly periods was examined:

- 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2012
- 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012
- 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013, and
- 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2013.

The methodology for collecting the data changed between the six-monthly periods and they are therefore not directly comparable. It is also important to note that the full impact, if any, of the Pilot will take some time to be realised, therefore data available for KPI 3 is unlikely to provide sufficient information to evaluate in terms of the questions raised for this evaluation.

2.3.3 Feedback from stakeholders

Table 2.1 provides an overview of each method used to collect data from stakeholders to inform the evaluation.

			Survey end date
	respondents		
Chief Executive Officer Pre-Pilot Survey	41 from 41 orgs	7 Mar 2013	10 Jul 2013
Mid-Pilot Review	36 from 36 orgs	8 Jul 2013	19 Sep 2013
Chief Executive Officer Post- Pilot Survey	22 from 22 orgs	10 Feb 2014	24 Feb 2014
Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey	40 from 34 orgs	10 Feb 2014	24 Feb 2014
Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey	339 from 37 orgs	10 Feb 2014	24 Feb 2014
Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey	18 for 47 providers	28 Mar 2013	18 Sep 2013
Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey	15 for 44 providers	4 Feb 2014	13 Feb 2014
Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits	18	20 Sep 2013	18 Mar 2014
Auditor Focus Group 1	12 from 9 orgs	31 Jan 2014	N/A
Auditor Focus Group 2	7 from 5 orgs ²	6 Feb 2014	N/A
Auditor Post Pilot Survey	9 from 5 orgs	5 Mar 2014	17 Mar 2014
	Survey Mid-Pilot Review Chief Executive Officer Post- Pilot Survey Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey Observer Feedback for Pilot Auditor Focus Group 1 Auditor Focus Group 2	Survey36 from 36 orgsMid-Pilot Review36 from 36 orgsChief Executive Officer Post- Pilot Survey22 from 22 orgsQuality Manager Post-Pilot Survey40 from 34 orgsProvider Staff Post-Pilot Survey339 from 37 orgsAccount Manager Pre-Pilot Survey18 for 47 providersAccount Manager Post-Pilot Survey15 for 44 providersAccount Manager Post-Pilot Survey15 for 9 orgsAccount Manager Post-Pilot Survey12 from 9 orgsAuditor Focus Group 1 Auditor Focus Group 212 from 5 orgs²	Survey36 from 36 orgs8 Jul 2013Mid-Pilot Review36 from 36 orgs8 Jul 2013Chief Executive Officer Post- Pilot Survey22 from 22 orgs10 Feb 2014Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey40 from 34 orgs10 Feb 2014Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey339 from 37 orgs10 Feb 2014Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey18 for 47 providers28 Mar 2013Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey15 for 44 providers4 Feb 2014Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey1820 Sep 2013Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey1820 Sep 2013Auditor Focus Group 1 Auditor Focus Group 212 from 9 orgs31 Jan 2014Auditor Focus Group 27 from 5 orgs²6 Feb 2014

Table 2.1 Data collection methods used in evaluation

² One auditor organisation attended both focus groups, resulting in a total of 13 organisations being represented at the sessions.

2.3.4 Provider experiences

A total of 48 Providers participated in the Pilot, including 12 Activity 1 and 36 Activity 2 Providers. Information concerning Provider experiences was collected through surveys with Provider staff at varying levels, including:

- a pre-Pilot and post-Pilot survey with Provider Chief Executive Officers (CEO)
- a mid-Pilot Review completed by Provider CEOs or Quality Managers (who were Provider nominated staff within the organisation tasked with the responsibility of managing the Pilot process)
- a post-Pilot survey of Provider Quality Managers, and
- a post-Pilot survey of Provider staff.

While response rates for each survey were generally high and provide some valuable insights into Provider experiences with the Pilot, response rates for CEOs were relatively low. This should be taken into account when comparing survey data between CEO and Quality Managers. Notes are attached to graphs where response rates are low.

2.3.5 Auditor experiences

Over 40 auditors from 15 organisations were involved in audits under the Pilot. Feedback was sought from auditors about the Pilot and the certification process, consisting of:

- two focus groups held via webinar, and
- a survey disseminated to all auditor organisations engaged in the Pilot.

There is limited information available for the auditor group. Less than half (44 per cent) of the auditors involved in the Pilot participated in a focus group and there was a very low level of response to the auditor survey, with only nine completed responses received (by auditors from only five organisations). As a result, the responses may not be representative of the full group of auditors in the Pilot and their feedback has only been used anecdotally.

2.3.6 Account Manager Feedback

A total of 18 Account Managers (or Contract Managers) from the department were initially involved in the Pilot. The number of Account Managers involved in the Pilot reduced to 15 towards the end of the process.

Feedback from Account Managers was considered through examination of information collected via a pre-Pilot and post-Pilot survey. A number of Account Managers had the opportunity to observe audits performed under the Pilot and feedback forms completed by Account Managers after attendance at audits have also been considered as part of this evaluation.

It was anticipated that Account Managers would offer an objective assessment as to whether participation in the Pilot had led to improvements in a Providers' quality of service. However, feedback collected through the Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey in February 2014 may have been collected too early in the process to sufficiently determine the impact of the Pilot on the operation of Providers.

Many Providers had only recently or not yet received certification at the time the survey was conducted. Therefore, as with KPI 3 data, Account Managers did not observe any cultural or business

change at their most recent Provider site visits. To fully appreciate changes implemented by the Pilot, it would be useful to consider Account Manager views at a later time.

3. Preparation for Pilot Quality Assurance Framework implementation

The focus of this section is on how the department assisted the preparation of auditors and Providers for the Pilot process and implementation of the revised QAF. Consideration will be given to the methods used to disseminate information to auditors and Providers, how useful it was and how it could be improved for the future.

Though evidence in this section primarily relates to information disseminated for the purpose of undertaking the Pilot, it is pertinent to the evaluation as clear, concise, timely and relevant information is critical to the implementation of the QAF under the new employment services contract.

3.1 Sources of information

The department disseminated information to Providers and auditors through a variety of sources. Background information on the Pilot QAF was given to Providers and auditors primarily through the Pilot Instructions and the Activity 2 Instructions. To assist Providers and auditors prepare for the audit, the department supplied an Evidence Guide (accompanying Activity 2 Instructions) and a Provider Preparation Kit. Information that needed to be communicated by the department over the course of the Pilot period was released using the Provider Portal, newsletters, www.govdex.gov.au and webinars. Information sessions were run by the department specifically for auditors.

Feedback mid and post-Pilot suggests that the majority of participating Providers rated the quality of the information to be at least adequate and useful (Figure 3.1)³.

³ Survey feedback was not requested for every information source and was limited to these.



Figure 3.1: Quality Manager responses (per cent) on the quality of various departmental information

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey (Appendix Table C2)

Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

Providers also considered the information to be useful when asked in the Mid-Pilot Review, 2013 (Figure 3.2)⁴.

⁴ Survey feedback was not requested for every information source and was limited to these three.



Figure 3.2: Provider responses (per cent) on the usefulness of various departmental information sources on providing adequate information in understanding the audit requirements

Source: The Mid Pilot Review, 2013 (Appendix Table C1)

While auditors were generally positive about the information made available to them, specific feedback concerning each information source was not identifiable given the low response rate received through the Auditor Post-Pilot Survey, 2014. Where available, anecdotal comments provided in the post-Pilot survey or made at the focus groups have been considered.

Each information source is considered in more detail below.

3.1.1 Pilot Instructions

When asked mid-Pilot about the Pilot Instructions, 86 per cent of Providers indicated they considered the information to be very useful or useful, while the remainder considered the information to be somewhat useful (Figure 3.2).

Just over one-quarter (28 per cent) of Providers indicated in the Mid-Pilot Review, 2013 that they had queries that were not addressed by the Pilot Instructions (Figure 3.3). While 19 per cent of these respondents had not raised the query with anyone, the majority (51 per cent) sought information by calling or emailing the Pilot QAF Support Team in the department.



Figure 3.3: Provider responses (per cent) on how they seek clarification for questions not raised in the audit

Source: The Mid-Pilot Review, 2013 (Appendix Table C3)

3.1.2 Activity 2 Instructions

Of all information sources, the quality of information in the Activity 2 Instructions was generally rated high or very high (56 per cent) by the highest number of Quality Managers (Figure 3.1). Only five per cent considered the quality of the information to be low.

The responses on the usefulness of the Activity 2 Instructions were similar to the Pilot Instructions. Eighty-one per cent of Providers indicated the Activity 2 Instructions were very useful or useful and the remaining respondents thought they were somewhat useful (Figure 3.2).

3.1.3 Evidence Guide

The Evidence Guide outlined the evidence required for Providers to meet each departmental Quality Principle in the Pilot QAF. Feedback collected mid-Pilot from Providers was very positive with over 92 per cent agreeing or strongly agreeing it helped them prepare for the audit and was relevant to their organisation (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Quality Managers' assessment (per cent) of usefulness of the Evidence Guide

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C4) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

3.1.4 Provider Preparation Kit

Positive feedback was also received for the Provider Preparation Kit with 43 per cent of Providers agreeing the quality of the information was high or very high. Only five per cent indicated the quality was low (Figure 3.1).

All JSA Providers found the Provider Preparation Kit to be at least somewhat useful, with 86 per cent finding the document useful or very useful (Figure 3.2).

3.1.5 Newsletters

Newsletters were also a favoured source of information by Providers, with 95 per cent of Quality Managers considering the quality of information in newsletters to be at least adequate (39 per cent high or very high). Newsletters were distributed bi-monthly and this frequency was satisfactory for three-quarters (74 per cent) of Quality Managers. The remaining 26 per cent wanted the newsletter distributed more frequently (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014).

Auditors also favoured the Newsletters as a form of disseminating information. In focus groups they overwhelmingly agreed they were the most effective means of providing information and were mostly in agreement as to the frequency (Auditor Focus Groups, 2014):

"For me the Newsletters were of great value especially in the clarification of those cloudy areas".

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"I preferred newsletters to Govdex as Govdex requires interaction with other auditors."

Certification Body (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"I found the newsletters quite good cause they actually summarised a lot of the things into smaller pieces."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

3.1.6 Provider Portal

The quality of information on the Provider Portal was rated high or very high by half of Providers. Only the *Activity 2 Instructions* were rated high or very high in more instances. Only five per cent of respondents considered the quality to be low (Figure 3.1).

3.1.7 Provider Webinars

While 42 per cent of Providers considered the quality of webinar information to be high or very high, webinar quality was considered one of the lowest, with 21 per cent of Quality Managers surveyed indicating it was low or very low (Figure 3.1). Suggestions for improvement from the Quality Managers who rated the quality of webinar information as low or very low included providing more practical information and allowing more interaction between participants (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014):

"I rarely got any nuggets of gold from the webinars. More practical information would have been helpful."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The webinars did not provide any real information that was useful at the time. More practical hands-on information would have been appreciated and would have assisted in the audit process itself. For example, how the audits were expected to be conducted in relation to the DEEWR Quality Framework, how much detail the auditors would be expected to look at."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"(The department should) provide specific information prior to the webinars which Providers need to look at and prepare input so that it can lead to greater discussion. Have those Providers who have gone through the exercise talk openly about what worked well and what didn't and the reasons and then get input from others."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

3.1.8 Govdex

There were mixed Provider views on the success of www.govdex.gov.au in communicating information, with over one-third (38 per cent) of Quality Managers not knowing how to rate the quality of information on the website (refer Appendix Table C2). This may indicate Govdex was unknown to a proportion of Quality Managers, resulting in their unwillingness to rate its quality.

Only 12 per cent of Providers who rated the quality of Govdex information considered it to be high or very high; 21 per cent rated the quality as low or very low (Figure 3.1).

Auditors also had mixed views on the usefulness of Govdex for the implementation of the Pilot QAF. In focus groups, some auditors indicated they did not use or even know about Govdex. Those who were aware of it had concerns about its usefulness and did not use it to its full capacity:

> "Govdex navigation wasn't great but useful info there - chat facilities not used so really just a storage facility." Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"I preferred newsletters to Govdex as Govdex requires interaction with other auditors."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"I think Govdex would be a great resource but was messy."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

3.1.9 Auditor Information Sessions

The general consensus from auditors in the focus groups was that the information sessions conducted by the department were "well run, useful and informative" (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014). Suggestions for improvement included:

• Making the information sessions available online for auditors to access at any time (it is noted the sessions were actually available online via Govdex, however, given the analysis above suggests awareness of Govdex was low auditors may not have realised this information was available):

"If they were available in a webinar format that trainees could log into in the future that would be good. Certification bodies could then run them if they wanted to up skill their staff. Sorry - accessible at any time. Not on specific days and times."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

- Providing more notice for the scheduling of information sessions, as some auditors noted they can be pre-booked for three to six months in advance (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014).
- Including more practical information with best practice and real world examples to highlight traps that auditors could fall into.

3.2 Appropriateness of information

3.2.1 Information for Providers

Feedback from Providers suggests the department delivered a great deal of information in a timely fashion. Mid-way through the Pilot, 89 per cent of Providers thought information provided to them was sufficient (Mid-Pilot Review, 2013). Post-Pilot the majority of Quality Managers (82 per cent) felt the volume of information to support their understanding of the Pilot QAF was about right (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014).

However, post-Pilot feedback from Quality Managers suggests there is some opportunity for improvement in terms of information content (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014):

- Approximately one-quarter (23 per cent) of surveyed Quality Managers indicated there was information missing from the documents provided by the department.
- A third of responding Quality Managers either disagreed or indicated they neither agreed nor disagreed that information was available when it was needed.

However, the comments do not suggest any specific areas for improvement.

3.2.2 Information for Auditors

Although auditors on the Activity 2 Panel consisted of auditing bodies from Joint Accreditation System of Australia & New Zealand (JAS-ANZ) and were supplemented with recommendations from Providers, there was no guarantee that auditors who conducted the audits had any experience of employment services. Indeed, feedback through this evaluation suggests that some auditors were not familiar with employment services, the JSA model or the Employment Services Deed. Auditors recognised this lack of knowledge was a challenge for them in conducting the audit:

"As we did not have knowledge of JSA and JSA Principles we were on the back foot at the beginning with a lot of the learning taking place on the way."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"The information was adequate ... however if the Auditor had only a little knowledge of JSA and JSA Principles it would have been very difficult for them. If the exercise were to be done again, I would suggest that the Department produce a training package for the Certification Bodies to review and administer".

Certification Body (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

In addition, many Providers identified a challenge during the audit process was needing to educate auditors who did not have the required knowledge or understanding to carry out the audit. This had flow-on effects for the timeliness (and subsequent cost) of the audit reports to the Provider for certification against a Quality Standard and the Quality Principles:

"Our auditor was also on a learning curve in terms of getting an understanding of the Deed beyond the boundaries of ISO 9001 requirements. Therefore an on-going investment by the Department in training auditors will reap benefits in ensuring the effectiveness of the service wide implementation of the QSP in 2015."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The additional requirements by using DSS as the certification standard along with the Auditors lack of program knowledge resulted in inefficiencies and additional cost to [Provider name]."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Also a big challenge was [Provider name] and its members having to 'educate' the Auditors in the JSA program, particularly with claims and participation requirements."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

I'm not sure if it was the information or the process that was not the best. I believe expecting external auditors to have a practical understanding of the requirements of the DEEWR Quality Framework was unrealistic. I don't believe there was any real benefit from having the Quality Framework audited as the understanding of any external auditor would have been extremely limited and would have only a superficial understanding of the requirements of the contract. Particularly in relation to auditing claims and files. I am not sure what was provided to Auditors but there was not clarity in the process."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Account Managers also suggested Providers had these experiences:

"One of the main challenges that [Provider name] experienced was in relation to the auditor's understanding of what was required in terms of the items to be reviewed and the context of the report to be generated. Feedback from the auditor indicated that they believed the department could have done a better job providing resources and explaining the required content of the reports to them".

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Some auditors were not fully briefed".

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Although many auditors agreed the information they required was generally available, feedback suggests there was a significant amount of information they were required to familiarise themselves with in order to become knowledgeable enough about the subject matter to undertake the audit in a timely manner:

"There was lots of information, but it required a lot of work to go through that information, and sort of put it into an understanding for myself to be able to use quickly in an audit ... it required a lot of work to syphon through it. Oh, huge. Just the deed in itself is huge. So then there were the guidelines and there was a lot of duplication."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"Note that auditors are out auditing most of the time, not sitting in an office so accessing web sites, Govdex etc. is done when time permits between audits. Knowing exactly what is important and where to find it is useful information - perhaps a short 'where is what' list(would be useful)".

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

The knowledge, in terms of the level of detailed knowledge required of auditors, will be an ongoing challenge for the department. Some suggestions made by auditors to assist their preparation for the QAF process include:

• More structured information, with checklists where appropriate:

"Better organised information would have been helpful with possibly some key checklists."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"What I had to do to have a successful efficient and quick audit was to get that information and to put it into tech lists. Things I was going to ask the client, things – the documents I wanted to see. Records I wanted to see, the types of questions I had to ask the staff, management and all levels of staff just to be able to put it into your findings, your report, which were quite specific, in the types of information and the amount of information that you wanted. That was quite a lot in itself."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

• Provision of a best practice audit report:

"Example audit reports (best practice) would be very useful."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"Examples of reports would be useful, particularly in regards to content for the quality principles. E.g. what is adequate evidence, what is not enough, what is too much."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

 A departmental contact (it is noted a phone number and email address was available to auditors, however, comments suggest it could have been more effectively communicated to auditors):

"It would have been more helpful to someone available before the audit as part of the planning process before you go on site e.g. to understand the Deed, confirm sites etc."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"A general contact – phone and email query 'hot line' would be wonderful."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

3.3 Summary

There are a number of ways the department disseminated information about the Pilot process and the revised QAF to Providers and auditors. The findings suggest that while all methods were effective, some were more favoured by Providers and auditors than others.

Survey feedback from Quality Managers suggests the Pilot Instructions, Activity Two Instructions, Evidence Guide, Provider Preparation Kit, Newsletters and Provider Portal were effective forms of communication and assisted Providers in preparing for the Pilot, and by extension, the QAF. Indications are that these types of documentation should be factored in when considering ways of informing Providers and auditors about the new QAF.

Webinar information sessions worked well for auditors but less so for Providers. Providers would like to see information sessions improved by providing more hands-on practical information and more interaction. Auditors also noted webinars could be improved by providing the information from the sessions online and giving more notice about the timing of webinars.

Although the potential for Govdex was recognised, many Providers and auditors were not aware of the resource or did not see value in it. There are opportunities for this communication tool to be used more effectively in the future and better promotion of its benefits may support this.

A key challenge for auditors is they have limited knowledge and understanding of employment services, the JSA Model and the Employment Services Deed. While there is a significant amount of information available to auditors it is difficult to become familiar with it all in a short timeframe. This has impacted on Providers' timeliness and resourcing requirements for obtaining certification.

Given these issues, consideration about the degree of knowledge the auditor is expected to have prior to an audit may need to be addressed for a future QAF model. This should include the extent to which individual auditors are required to be familiar with the Employment Services Deed if they are to be on a panel and whose responsibility it is to train them: the department or the auditing body.

Improvements in communication with auditors could also be made through tailoring information to auditor requirements and providing more practical examples, with auditors specifically requesting copies of 'best practice' audit reports. Auditors also requested the webinar information sessions be made available online and a departmental contact be available to answer their queries. Interestingly, these were both already available to auditors – the information sessions via govdex and a general QAF phone number and email address. This further suggests the department needs to consider opportunities to better promote the resources available on govdex. It also suggests the department should continue maintaining the QAF phone number and email address, or provide a specific departmental contact for auditors, and more effectively communicate the availability of this service.

4. Implementation of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework

This section considers the general experiences of Providers participating in the Pilot and auditors undertaking the certification process. The challenges associated with implementation of the Pilot QAF are also examined.

Feedback received from departmental Account Managers, auditors and Provider front-line staff, Quality Managers and CEOs is addressed where relevant.

4.1 Choice of Quality Standard by Providers

To implement the Pilot QAF, Providers could choose one of four Quality Standards against which to certify their organisation. The most commonly selected Quality Standard was Standard ISO 9001 (66 per cent). While only one Provider was certified against Employment Services Industry Standards as at 26 March 2014, a further six Providers were working towards certification against this Quality Standard. If all are certified against this Quality Standard, Employment Services Industry Standards will be the second most commonly selected standard (Table 4.1).

ruble 411. Standard that i romaers were certified against or working towards (as at 50 April 2014)			
Standard	No. certified	No. withdrew from certification	Total
Standard ISO 9001	28	4	32
Disability Service Standards	4	2	6
Investors in People	1	2	3
Employment Services Industry Standards	1	6	7

Table 4.1: Standard that Providers were certified against or working towards (as at 30 April 2014)

Evidence collected for this evaluation suggests that selection of a Quality Standard for certification was not a simple exercise for Providers. Almost one-fifth (19 per cent) of Quality Managers reported working toward, or being certified in, a different Quality Standard from the one initially selected (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014). A number of Providers withdrew from the process as they were not able to meet the required timeframes.

The key challenge associated with selecting a Quality Standard appears to relate to the differing requirements of each Quality Standard, with flow-on implications for the audit. Some Quality Standards may be better aligned to the business model of the Provider. An example that recurred in the Pilot related to Providers with both Disability Employment Services and JSA interests. Given these Providers were already familiar with the Disability Service Standards some initially considered this Quality Standard for the JSA arm of their business. However, these Providers found that Disability Service Standards had onerous job seeker sampling requirements that were impractical and costly for larger JSA caseloads. Providers who originally chose Disability Service Standards cited the excessive on-site audit requirements as their motivation to switch:

"Once we got to the stage of submitting an audit plan it was clear that the amount of job seeker interviews and other on-site audit requirements (in DSS) were far too excessive for a JSA business caseload in excess of 30,000 ... the time and cost involved made it untenable"

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Initially it was thought that DSS would be appropriate as we had previously achieved certification for our DES contracts in remote ESAs. However once we got to the stage of submitting an audit plan it became clear that the amount of job seeker interviews and other on site audit requirements were far too excessive for a JSA business with a caseload in excess of 30,000. This was because of the formula used by DSS to establish the number of job seeker interviews required. The time and cost involved made it untenable. This was not made apparent to us by the chosen auditors until late in the process."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Specific feedback from auditors regarding the Quality Standards and Quality Principles is limited. However, one auditor also acknowledged the problems associated with the Disability Service Standards:

"DSS consumer sampling methodology was not designed for JSA - high numbers of job seekers required....Sampling requirement is too much for DSS as compared to other standards, It is extra financial burden on the Service provider."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

The Employment Services Industry Standards was a problem for those who selected it as it had not been accredited when the Pilot began. Providers who initially selected Employment Services Industry Standards cited excessive delays. While some of these Providers switched to other Quality Standards, some ultimately withdrew, or could not complete the Pilot QAF certification process in the allotted timeframe (six Providers in total):

"Because initially we were working with ESIS and assumed that it was an accredited standard. The delays with JAS- ANZ were frustrating. We had a local auditor on board but it wasn't until late December that they had to pull out due to the costs and extra administrative burden that would be imposed by JAS-ANZ. When this happened we did some research on other options and then decided that IiP was aligned a bit more with the culture of our organisation."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

In addition, selection was difficult for Providers as they felt there was overlap between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles (refer Section 4.5.3). Due to the complexities involved, Providers and auditors suggested the department supply a document mapping the departmental Quality Principles with each of the Quality Standards to aid selection of a Quality Standard and administration of the audit:

"There should be detailed mapping of the Principles against each of the selected Standards, with Principles or KPMs within Principles identified as being fully covered by the Standard, and therefore not requiring additional audit - Every effort should also be made to simplify the documentation and the process in every possible way."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"I think if there was a mapping exercise of the actual KPIs across the various standards (ISO 9001, ESIS, Quality Principles etc.) this may assist."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

4.2 Auditor selection

Once a Quality Standard is selected, Providers are required to engage an auditor from the department-supplied auditor panel and bring together the appropriate documentation for certification against both the chosen Quality Standard and the Quality Principles.

When asked to rank factors important in selecting an auditor, Quality Managers surveyed saw how well auditors fit with the Provider's organisation as being most important, followed by the auditor's reputation and having engaged them previously. The auditor's comprehension of the process and cost incurred were the least important factors considered when selecting an auditor (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Provider responses (frequency) on ranking factors of choice of auditor

Interestingly, while only eight per cent of Quality Managers surveyed post-Pilot indicated they would not choose the same auditor in the future, almost half (42 per cent) reported not knowing whether they would engage the same auditor again (Figure 4.2).

Source: The Mid-Pilot Review, 2013 (Appendix Table C5)



Figure 4.2: Quality Managers' views (per cent) on whether they would engage with the same auditor in the future

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C6)

Of the Providers who indicated they would engage the same auditor in the future, similar reasons were reported as those indicated for initial selection in the Mid-Pilot Review, 2013. Providers reported the professionalism in the auditors' service, their comprehension of the process and fit with their organisation as the main reasons for engaging the same auditor in the future:

"Our auditors were knowledgeable, comprehensive and fair in their dealings with us throughout the process." Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post- Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Experience they brought to the table and the care they demonstrated when dealing with clients and interview process."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"They have a comprehensive understanding of our organisation by conducting the ISO and DSS audits."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The auditor was fair and focused on 'Continuous Improvement' and process-based rather than purely compliance and made the staff feel at ease."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Given that this was the first time Providers selected an auditor for the purposes of certification, that there was no obvious pattern of factors especially important to Providers is perhaps not surprising. As Providers and auditors become more familiar with the audit process the qualities that Providers are looking for in an auditor, such as those mentioned above in the comments, may become more apparent.

4.3 Communication with auditor

The volume of communication between Providers and auditors varied while preparing for the audit. Of those Providers who had consulted with the auditor at the time of the Mid-Pilot Review, 2013, one-third (33 per cent) reported having less than six hours of communication time between their organisation and the auditor prior to audit, while just over half (56 per cent) had 11 hours or more (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Hours of communication time between organisation and the auditor prior to audit (per cent)

Source: The Mid-Pilot Review, 2013 (Appendix Table C7) Note: Those respondents who had yet to consult with an auditor were removed, values recalculated.

4.4 Conduct of the audit

4.4.1 Auditor views

Feedback received from auditors in the focus groups suggested most had good relationships with Providers. They attributed this to management being committed to the Pilot QAF:

"We were fortunate to have a client who was very proactive in managing the process and communicating with staff and us. They had a dedicated Project Manager and team and a Working Party with staff representatives from across the business. A best practice change management approach with regular site interaction and communications across the business. On-site awareness was high and people welcomed the opportunity to be interviewed by the auditors."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"Communication with the providers has been excellent as the contact has been an existing client from a DSS or 9001 point of view- have generally been communicating with (from a planning point of view) with the GM and the quality representative."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"We found providers to be very helpful and understanding. We were learning and so were they so there was ease in communication. One provider was an existing client and their contact was very helpful in allowing us to understand the industry. (I had) No understanding (of the industry) at all."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

The main Provider point of contact for auditors was Quality Managers however CEOs, Site Managers and other staff were also frequently contacted throughout the preparation and audit processes:
"With me there were about 5 sites involved and the QM [Quality Manager] came with me to each of the sites. At the HO [Head Office] which was where the QM was located I generally contacted one-on-one with a person like the CEO etc. But the QM was always there to assist if needed which really helped a lot."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"[We communicated to] all levels from CEO to state and site managers to support staff - As well as finance, HR, QA."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"I had the 3 top management - Director of Employment Service, Site Manager (Senior) and Quality Manager - was at my disposal for all site visits and for the whole 7 days. This assisted with ensuring appropriate records were available."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

Departmental staff on occasion observed auditors undertaking site visits. While the insight the staff provided and the ability of the Account Managers to give feedback was appreciated, some auditors offered mixed views about their presence:

"We did have a few people for few days. They were basically observing and didn't have anything to say, in fact they were learning the process. I think the whole process to them was fairly new to them and the auditors. They were mainly interested in as to what the auditors were looking for, and what evidence they were looking for. The request was made by the department and the provider agreed so this is why we agreed. But at the end of the day I think it was a good thing they were there. At the start I was apprehensive but at the end I was happy that they were there."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"Sometimes at small sites there were too many assessors or Department representatives."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"I had representatives from the Department on all three Audits and I found them to be most informative, even though they were supposed to be a fly on the wall. However ... it is difficult for the client to experience a oneon-one conversation and it becomes more difficult for them to have multiple people in the interview."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

4.4.2 Provider views

As shown in Figure 4.4, Quality Managers surveyed post-Pilot were generally satisfied the audit was conducted in line with the intention of the audit process.



Figure 4.4: Quality Manager views on the conduct of the audit being aligned with the aims of the process (per cent)

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C8)

Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

Rating particularly high, over 80 per cent of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed the audit:

- protected the confidentiality of information within the boundaries of the Deed (86 per cent)
- was conducted in accordance with the relevant approved Quality Standard (85 per cent)
- was evidence based (84 per cent)
- was conducted ethically and will withstand public scrutiny (83 per cent), and
- was independent and objective (81 per cent).

While a small proportion of Quality Managers disagreed with the following statements, approximately three-quarters of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed the audit was:

- consistent with the Deed and its Principles (78 per cent)
- fair open and transparent (75 per cent)
- results focused (75 per cent), and
- focused on continuous improvement (74 per cent).

Lower, though still positive results, were expressed by Quality Managers that the audit was:

- always conducted with proficiency and due professional care (69 per cent), and
- flexible to meet Providers' needs (67 per cent).

The commitment of the audit to continuous improvement

An aim of the Pilot QAF, as outlined in the *Pilot Instructions*, was to encourage Providers to strive for continuous improvement in the delivery of employment services. Feedback collected through this evaluation suggests respondents perceive the Pilot QAF achieved this.

Quality Managers were in agreement the audit was or had been focused on continuous improvement (75 per cent agreed or strongly agreed). However, a proportion (11 per cent) recognised that it was 'too early to tell' (Figure 4.4 above).

Quality Managers also had the opportunity to comment as part of the post-Pilot survey about the main benefit of participating in the Pilot. Approximately a quarter of Quality Managers who provided comments indicated they believed continuous improvement was a key benefit of the audit:

"Embedding culture of continuous improvement across the organisation. Identification of skills gaps and addressing with staff through training and professional development."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Identifying areas to continue to improve in our QMS, and put us in a good position moving forward to keep improving our practices and a better service to all stakeholders."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Implementation of a QA system that will lead to a full continuous improvement process. Establish fully documented best practice processes for all sites."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Formal recognition of continuous improvement being a central tenet of services. A heightened awareness of quality principles by staff."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Some departmental Account Managers also noted the benefit to continuous improvement activities of the Providers:

"Provides an opportunity for [Provider] to review processes with a view to continuous improvement."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"[Provider] were very positive about participating in the QSP (sic). QSP has assisted them to improve their weaknesses and celebrate and build on their strengths. They have recently restructured their organisation to implement continuous improvement, especially in their administrative procedures. Whilst the respondent to this survey has not indicated any improvement, it is to be noted that there has not been enough time elapsed to correctly gauge or measure this. We do note that the recent CAP results showed a 3 per cent improvement. We will be noting with interest any improvement in PAU and site monitoring results over the next 6 months."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

4.5 Challenges undertaking the Pilot and implementing the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework

Implementing the Pilot QAF within the required timeframe was a challenge for Providers, in terms of financial cost, staff time and resources. This was acknowledged by all respondents involved in the evaluation. In addition, concern was expressed regarding the duplication between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles and the sampling requirements for audits.

4.5.1 Financial cost

As shown in Figures 4.5 and 4.6, there was a significant range of responses from Provider CEOs and Quality Managers when asked to consider the costs associated with the audit.

In terms of the cost of preparing for certification, the highest cost specified by a Quality Manager was \$260,000 and \$250,000 by a CEO. The lowest cost quoted by both a Quality Manager and a CEO was \$10,000.

A high proportion of Quality Managers (55 per cent) were not aware of the preparation costs of the audit but those that were aware generally specified a higher cost than CEOs (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Cost of preparation for certification, as reported by CEOs and Quality Managers

CEOs QMs

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C9) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

The cost of the audit was considered to be less than the cost of preparing for the audit. The highest cost identified by a Quality Manager was \$150,000 and \$100,000 by a CEO. The lowest cost quoted by a Quality Manager was \$2,700 and \$4,000 by a CEO (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Cost of the audit, as reported by CEOs and Quality Managers

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C10) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

As the recorded preparation costs and audit cost varied significantly the average is perhaps not the most reliable indicator of cost. It is therefore more appropriate to consider the recorded median. The overall median audit cost was \$36,000, with the medians recorded by CEOs and Quality Managers being relatively similar (Table 4.2).

While the overall median cost for audit preparation was \$47,500, Quality Managers recorded a higher median of \$60,000, as opposed to the CEO median of \$30,000 (Table 4.2). This may reflect the higher level of Quality Manager involvement in the process and the greater knowledge they have regarding the preparation involved. However, it is noted the majority of respondent Quality Managers (55 per cent) did indicate that they "didn't know" the preparation costs of the audit. More than likely it reflects the fact that audit costs are set and known, while preparation costs are more subject to a Providers' view of the level of staff involvement required for certification.

Reported by		Preparation Cost	Audit Cost
Provider CEO	Average	\$58,721	\$41,000
	Median	\$30,000	\$40,000
Quality Manager	Average	\$89,529	\$40,194
	Median	\$60,000	\$35,000
Total	Average	\$74,125	\$40,545
	Median	\$47,500	\$36,000

Table 4.2: Average and median cost of preparation and audit, as reported by Quality Managers and CEOs

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Even though Providers understood the benefits of the Pilot QAF and survey results showed they generally endorsed it, comments suggest that costs were a significant challenge in implementing the Pilot QAF:

"The financial cost of the pilot is significant."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"We have mixed feelings about our participation in the Pilot, whilst I believe our participation in the ability has provided us with the opportunity to improve the quality of our services, I am yet to see the results in our financial statements. We could have the highest quality service and go broke implementing and maintaining a quality standard."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Overall we have appreciated taking part in the Quality Standards Pilot, but the costs associated with resourcing this are immense. The time taken to resource participation in the Pilot is time taken away from supporting job seekers. It should be noted that the audit principles and key performance measures were too open to interpretation, causing confusion between auditors and the Department."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The Quality Standards Team was very professional, helpful and efficient. However the prescriptive process for participation in the QS Pilot made this an administration and compliance exercise for us rather than a great opportunity to instil a quality focus and culture. This was a significant distraction, cost and burden to the organisation."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

For almost two-thirds (64 per cent) of respondent Providers the cost of participating in the Pilot was more than expected. Only one in 10 thought the cost was less than expected (Figure 4.7).





Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C11)

4.5.2 Time

The length of time Providers considered appropriate to prepare for certification against the Pilot QAF varied. Based on Quality Managers' experience during the Pilot, half (51 per cent) considered an appropriate timeframe to be 12 months or more but less than 18 months. This is not unexpected given the original 12 month timeframe for certification was extended to 31 March 2014 to accommodate some Provider requests.



Figure 4.7: Appropriate timeframe for certification against a Quality Standard and the Quality Principles

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C15) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

Estimations of the amount of time spent supporting the Pilot QAF process also varied. One Quality Manager reported that no staff time was spent preparing for and supporting the audit. The highest reported figure was 6,088 hours of staff time. This variation results in significant differences between the median and average hours of staff time preparing for and supporting the audit – the reported median was 500 hours⁵ and the average was 1,111 hours⁶ (Figure 4.9).

⁵ This is equivalent to 1 FTE staff member working eight hours per day, five days a week for 12.5 weeks.

⁶ This is equivalent to 1 FTE staff member working eight hours per day, five days a week for 27.775 weeks.



Figure 4.8: Hours of staff time spent preparing for and supporting the audit, as reported by Quality Managers

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C13)

Similar to the financial impost, the time spent preparing for and supporting the audit exceeded the expectations of over two-thirds (68 per cent) of Quality Managers (Figure 4.9).





Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C14)

Delays to the audit and certification process were considered a key contributing factor to the significant amount of time spent on the audit and a large proportion of Quality Managers (41 per cent) reported delays (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014). These delays resulted in some Providers being granted an extension in their timeframe and some Providers ultimately withdrawing from the Pilot altogether:

"The time taken to prepare for audits, calming the worries of staff at those sites that were audited, meeting the DEEWR timeline when changes to scheduled auditors delayed the audit process [were the biggest challenges]."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"[The biggest challenges were] time and resources within a highly competitive performance based environment. The deadline for the pilot was challenging due to the enormity and detail outlined in the principles."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Account Managers also noted, on behalf of Providers, the time (and cost) pressures associated with the audit requirements:

"[The biggest challenges were] time and resources. There has been a lot time needed to participate in audit and implement business improvement processes."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"...time and financial stresses were the most challenges aspects. Staff involved often stated the requirements appeared excessive and that it cost the organisation a substantial amount of money to meet the standards"

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The provider discussed the financial impact of gaining certification, and also queried whether the range of Program Assurance activities currently undertaken by the Department would be reviewed (or possibly scrapped) if the policy was implemented, particularly given the 'reduction of red tape' environment."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

Auditors reported delays to the audit process, particularly as a result of Providers being unprepared for the audit. In particular, job seeker interviews were raised by several auditors as having disrupted the audit process:

"One of our JSAs did not prepare well for the audit. The job seekers did not arrive and the auditors had to pick walk-ins. This was very disruptive to the audit as it was stop and start on the interviews. More onus should be placed on the provider to make sure this area is covered."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, February 2014)

"On a couple of sites the staff did not appear at all and there was no communication with either SP or audit team."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

While auditors gave this feedback about job seeker interviews, Providers have indicated through the Pilot Reference Group meetings that sourcing feedback directly from job seekers has provided them with better insight and knowledge about their service delivery.

Providers found the most time consuming aspects of the process were usually audit-associated administrative tasks along with evidence gathering and booking interviews with job seekers:

"The time spent on administration - i.e. letter sending, organising interviews for high amount of clients (some exited and working full time and difficult to contact), high volume of face to face interviews."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Time, evidence gathering and finding a suitable auditor."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Providers expressed concern the commitment of time and resources would extend into the future beyond the life of this process:

"Time and resources required. As a small organisation this has been particularly difficult, and it will be hard to maintain this commitment into the future."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014).

"Resourcing, time, cost and our future ability to maintain accreditation given the small size of our organisation."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Providers and Account Managers, when considering challenges on behalf of Providers, noted that other priorities competed for the time available to undertake the Pilot QAF process. Some businesses had other major requirements occurring at the same time as the Pilot QAF. Other Providers noted the diversion of funds and resources into the Pilot QAF inevitably had an impact upon their business processes and service delivery. These concerns are enduring for Providers and will need to be considered as a new QAF is built into future employment services contracts:

"Time consuming. It did interrupt the running of the business."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Time that operational staff were required to dedicate towards the pilot, which took away the focus from actual service delivery."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Finding the time to prepare, manage and complete the process at a time when compliance requirements have increased, revenue is falling dramatically, and maintaining acceptable star ratings is increasingly difficult."

CEO, Provider (CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Manageing the pilot while still completing intensive assurance activity."

CEO, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The main challenge has been competing priorities such as implementation of RJCP for this provider."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Competing priorities. Keeping the business going while implementing change and introducing greater rigour whilst also dealing with major financial viability issues."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

4.5.3 Duplication

Under the Pilot QAF, Providers were required to certify against both an approved Quality Standard and the eight departmental Quality Principles. The auditor was engaged to assess a Provider against both components of the Pilot QAF.

The generic nature of the Quality Standards meant all requirements of the Employment Services Deed could not be met through certification solely against the Quality Standard. The Quality Principles were designed to bridge this gap. At the time of drafting the Quality Principles it was anticipated there would be some overlap with the Quality Standards. The Pilot process was expected to assist in identifying the areas of duplication.

Through this evaluation, Providers and auditors have acknowledged the duplication between the Quality Principles and all four Quality Standards as well as between each of the Quality Principles themselves. The difficulty for Providers and auditors has been to determine where the gaps and the

overlays between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles have occurred as these vary depending on the Quality Standard:

"In respect to the reporting requirements between the department and the JAS-ANZ (for ISO 9001) there appears to be duplication and the two do not 'lay on top of one other' as much as we have first envisaged."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"The process is complicated in that 2 separate standards have to be met. This means that 2 separate gap analyses need to be undertaken in order to ensure that all items are covered. This is time consuming and adds to the expense of the accreditation process."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Some of the Key Performance Measures overlap or are sufficiently similar that they could be combined. Providing a clear focus for providers will ensure a higher level of compliance and support an improved ability to meet all the requirements."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

A Provider also outlined the duplication between the Quality Principles and the ongoing KPI3 assessment:

"Some of the items listed in the DEEWR Ongoing KPI 3 Assessment are already included in the Principles. Either the Principles or the DEEWR Ongoing KPI3 Assessment focus areas should be simplified, or the DEEWR KPI 3 Assessment is removed and incorporated into the Principles."

Quality Manager, Provider (Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Further, an auditor noted that certifying against the Principles took longer than certifying against the Standard:

"Our experience was with 9001 and the 8 principles takes longer to cover than ISO. It takes longer to cover the requirement for the 8 than it does to cover the requirements of ISO. Particularly the reporting."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

The overlap between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles could account for some of the time and cost burdens for participation in the Pilot expressed by Providers. While it is important to capture multiple aspects of the Provider's business to gauge quality, duplicating the assessment of any part of the business is inefficient, placing a greater burden on Providers' time, money and resources.

Given the importance of this issue, the department has already acknowledged the concerns raised by Providers and consultation with the industry has commenced to streamline the Quality Principles and reduce overlap with the Quality Standards.

4.5.4 Compliance

The sampling requirements for job seekers, claims reviews and file reviews were also critiqued aspects of the audit. Both auditors and Providers agree the focus of a large audit should be more on how the Providers managed the process rather than sampling the amount of transactions as required under the Pilot.

"It's important to do job seeker interviews, but overall it's not necessary in this pilot there's an overemphasis of oversampling ... and if you're talking to any more than 10 people you're really not getting any more useful information out of it."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

"They (The requirements for the principles certification) have a lot of questions relating to all the KPMs so that is prescriptive and that may be the amount of information so not everyone may have gone through and really itemized everything they wanted but it is a general thing with the audit you do look at the process and the sufficient of evidence you feel is necessary to comply or not comply."

Auditor (Auditor Focus Group, January 2014)

This issue has also been acknowledged by the department and Provider consultation is being undertaken to review the compliance and sampling requirements.

4.6 Summary

Providers were able to select one of four Quality Standards to certify against within the 12 month Pilot period.

Selection of a Quality Standard for certification was a complex exercise for Providers and one-fifth reported they had changed from their original choice through the process. A number of Providers also chose to withdraw from the process as they were not able to meet the requirements in the timeframe.

Challenges arose because the requirements of each Quality Standard vary and some Quality Standards are more suited to different business models and caseload sizes. Comments suggest certification against Disability Services Standards for JSA purposes was considered to be more onerous than the other Quality Standards, particularly in terms of the job seeker interview requirement. The time required to certify against the Employment Services Industry Standards, given the delay in this Quality Standards certification, also impacted upon selection.

More generally, job seeker interviews were raised by several auditors as having disrupted the audit process and contributing to lengthy delays. Although job seeker satisfaction data is available from the department's Post-Programme Monitoring Survey (KPI 3), Providers have been positive about the knowledge they have obtained through the collection of feedback directly from job seekers. It is expected that as Providers become more aware and prepared for the audit process, job seeker interviews will be less challenging for auditors to undertake.

Overall, feedback suggests Providers need to be fully informed as to the appropriateness of the Quality Standard they choose for their business model and understand its implications for the audit.

Providers were generally satisfied the audit was conducted in line with the intention of the audit process. A specific aim of the Pilot QAF was to encourage Providers to strive for continuous improvement in the delivery of employment services. Feedback collected through this evaluation suggests the audit is focused on continuous improvement and in this regard may provide evidence that a QAF shows more potential for driving continuous improvement than the existing KPI 3 Quality Framework measures.

The key challenges identified for implementation of the Pilot QAF within the required timeframe were costs, staff time and resources. Approximately two-thirds of Quality Managers indicated the cost of participating in the Pilot and the time spent preparing and supporting the audit was more than expected.

There was significant variation in estimations of the associated costs and time involved in the audit:

- The average median cost for audit preparation was \$47,500 and \$36,000 for the cost of the audit. While there was similarity between the median audit costs recorded by CEOs and Quality Managers, higher costs associated with audit preparation were recorded by Quality Managers.
- The reported median for the time spent supporting the Pilot QAF process was 500 hours. An appropriate timeframe for certification against a Quality Standard and the Quality Principles was considered to be 12 months or more but less than 18 months.

While it would have been valuable for the evaluation to consider whether the reported costs and time associated with the audit varied according to selected Quality Standard, this analysis was not possible. Comparisons between responses could not be drawn as the number of survey responses for each Quality Standard varied significantly and there was a particularly low number of respondents for Investors in People and the Employment Services Industry Standards.

The generic nature of the Quality Standards meant that there were gaps between the Quality Standards and the requirements of the Employment Services Deed, which were designed to be bridged by the Quality Principles. A further challenge documented by Providers and auditors was the duplication between the Quality Principles and the Quality Standards, as well as within some Quality Principle Key Performance Measures. Identification of areas of duplications would have better prepared the Providers and auditors to conduct a more efficient audit. To assist Providers in selecting a Quality Standard and the administration of the audit generally, Providers and auditors have requested information be available that maps the departmental Quality Principles with each of the Quality Standards.

In addition, the sampling requirements for job seekers, claims reviews and file reviews were also critiqued aspects of the audit. Both auditors and Providers agree the focus of an audit should be more on how the Providers managed the process rather than the number of transactions that need to be sampled as required under the Pilot.

The issues with duplication between the Quality Standards and Quality Principles and specified sampling requirements have been acknowledged by the department and consultation with Providers has already commenced with a view to improving these aspects of a new QAF.

5. Impact of the Pilot Quality Assurance Framework on delivery of employment services

The Pilot Management Plan indicated that measurement of the Pilot's success would consider whether the adoption of the revised QAF resulted in improvements to the services delivered by Providers.

While the impact of the Pilot QAF on participants has been considered, a full assessment has not been possible within the short timeframe available. Initially this section will explore some of the limitations identified with measuring the impact of Pilot QAF on service delivery.

The remainder of this section addresses whether the Pilot had an immediate impact on Providers, as well as the potential future impact of the revised QAF on Providers, and the industry more generally. The key areas examined as part of this assessment include:

- The impact of the Pilot on the Providers' delivery of employment services to their clients: job seekers and employers.
- The impact of the Pilot on the internal business operations of the Provider.

The current impact of the Pilot has been assessed through consideration of the views of departmental Account Managers and Provider Quality Managers and front line staff. In relation to the potential future impact of the Pilot QAF, data considered in this section takes account the views of Account Managers and Provider Quality Managers and CEOs. It is noted that while a comparative analysis treating each group equally has been undertaken for survey responses by Account Managers, Quality Managers and CEOs, response rates for all surveys, and indeed all survey questions were not equal, therefore results should be treated with caution (refer <u>Appendix C</u>).

Finally, this section analyses the overall value of the Pilot through considering any identified benefits against costs.

5.1 Data limitations

5.1.1 KPI 3 data

In making an assessment of the impact of the Pilot QAF on Providers' delivery of employment services, the department considered the administrative data presently collected to assess performance against KPI 3 for the current five quality measures. To determine whether any indicative changes were evident as a result of the Pilot, data from four six-monthly periods from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2013 was examined.

For each quality measure, comparisons were drawn over the four-six monthly periods for Pilot participants, Providers that withdrew from the Pilot and Providers that did not participate in the Pilot. The following analysis was undertaken when examining this data:

Quality Measure		Analysis	
1	Claims	Consideration of the rejection rate of Manual Special Claims.	
2	Individualised Employment Pathways Plans (EPPs)	Consideration of the proportion of EPPs that passed compliance requirements.	
3	Active engagement of participants	Consideration of two different measures – the first relates to active engagements (the percentage of Skills Assessments completed within the 30 week timeframe). The second relates to job seekers' minimum contact requirements with their Provider (percentage of Stream Services placements where minimum requirements are met).	
4	Participant experience	Consideration of two different scores (calculated based on Post Program Monitoring (PPM) data) – the first relates to the services the job seeker received in relation to the Service Guarantee and the second relates to the job seeker's perception of their EPP and how satisfied they were with various aspects of the service they received.	
5	Department received complaints	An assessment of complaints received by the department, which are assessed on the basis of Provider responsiveness in helping the department resolve these complaints also taking into account the severity of the complaint.	

Analysis of this data did not reveal any discernable patterns to determine whether the Pilot had impacted (positively or negatively) on the performance (in terms of the five quality measures) of Providers participating in the Pilot. It is expected the changes required to introduce the revised QAF within a Provider organisation will take time to implement and wider cultural change across the organisation will be required to support these changes. Ultimately there will be a lag between implementation and evidence being available to demonstrate the changes have impacted on Provider performance.

Additional data over a longer timeframe (of 12 to 24 months) would need to be examined to be able to detect any impact the revised QAF may have on the performance of Providers participating in the Pilot. It is however acknowledged that examination of KPI 3 data (in its current form) in the future may not yield any observable changes. The basis for introducing the Pilot QAF was that the current KPI 3 framework does not effectively measure, monitor or assure continuous improvement in Provider quality of service delivery. Therefore, if it is used as the sole basis to measure Provider performance in the future, it is unlikely to be reliable or effective. Consequently, the value of the current KPI 3 as a measure of quality is perhaps an issue the department should address in addition to consideration of alternative measures to monitor improvement in the future.

Although the available administrative data does not provide evidence to evaluate the impact of the Pilot on Provider performance, feedback obtained from stakeholders directly as part of this evaluation can assist to determine the current and expected impact. It is noted, however, that the Pilot sample is not necessarily representative of the Provider population and the views expressed may not account for the range of views within this population (refer Section 2.3.1). Further, it is important to recognise that there may be an element of 'pilot effect' reflected in the results. It is

often observed that Pilot participants are enthusiastic about the impact of their increased efforts in a pilot environment. Though Providers are at the front-line of the implementation of the Pilot QAF, as previously indicated, measurable evidence of change will take time manifest.

5.1.2 Current changes observed by Account Managers

As part of the post-Pilot survey, Account Managers were asked to consider overall the extent to which they agreed that a Provider's participation in the Pilot had led to improvements in the quality of service delivered. While only seven per cent disagreed the Pilot had led to improvements, 39 per cent provided a neutral response and one-fifth (20 per cent) indicated they did not know (Figure 5.1). These results indicate many Account Managers are yet to see the impact of the Pilot QAF on Provider performance.





Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C17)

Account Managers also had the opportunity to consider changes to particular aspects of Providers' business performance compared to 12 months ago. Low awareness was reported for changes in stakeholder engagement, service to job seekers, training and employment outcomes for job seekers, job seeker engagement and service to employers.

Encouragingly however 48 per cent of Account Managers indicated business processes were better than they were 12 months previously and there were higher levels of staff engagement evident for 25 per cent of Account Managers (Figure 5.2). The changes to business processes would likely have occurred in the initial stages of the Provider implementing the Pilot QAF. As with KPI 3 data, improvements to staff and client engagement will take longer to flow through given the cultural and business changes required.



Figure 5.2: Account Manager awareness of changes to aspects of Provider performance compared to 12 months ago (per cent)

The same as before
Better than before

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C18)

In relation to the future impact of the revised QAF, Account Managers' responses in the post-Pilot survey were more positive than those provided when considering the current impact. However, they did continue to provide a high level of neutral and "don't know" responses, possibly indicating a 'wait and see attitude' (Figures 5.4, 5.5, 5.7 and 5.10).

On occasions, Account Managers had the opportunity to attend Provider audits being conducted. Account Managers were subsequently requested to provide feedback to the department and some of this feedback suggests more optimism than was evident in the post-Pilot survey results. For instance, comments were generally supportive when asked "Based on the audit today, do you believe Quality Standards will provide further assurance to DEEWR and the industry as a whole that the appropriate processes are in place for Providers to deliver Quality Services to Participants, employers and DEEWR?":

"Yes. I think the Quality Standards has a twofold effect. First, the process gave the Providers an opportunity to focus on their ability to deliver Quality Services to participants, employers and the Department. Therefore, during the process of demonstrating to auditors their ability to deliver Quality Services, against the 8 principles, Providers are in a position to identify inadequacies in their processes and hence able to implement strategies to improve their operations. Second, I think having an independent body assess a Provider's delivery of Quality Services provides assurances to the Department that quality employment services and practices are being delivered."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

"This no doubt builds on assurance to the Department and the JSA Industry as a whole that appropriate services are in place for providers to Deliver Quality Services to all stakeholders. The auditor provides a fresh perspective and while not intimately acquainted with all of the system, the interventions and support and associated processes, is able to utilise his own skill set to understand the tasks and see any possible flaws."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

"Yes, As previously stated, some of the audit findings complimented Contract Management Priorities and monitoring activity. There is little doubt that receiving consistent feedback from an external auditor that aligns with feedback received from the Department will reinforce the Department's findings and give provider's strategies for improving the quality of their service."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

It is understood that Account Managers were not heavily involved in the policy development process for the Pilot QAF. This may account for some of the non-comittal responses provided in the post-Pilot survey. The comments provided by Account Managers who had observed the audits being conducted tend to support this conclusion.

5.1.3 Overall adherence to the Quality Assurance Framework

As described in the Quality Standards Pilot Instructions, "DEEWR has defined eight QAF Principles (the Principles) for the delivery of quality services to participants, employers and DEEWR....Each Principle aims to focus on the overall/critical goal; that is to maximise the delivery of high quality employment services" (Department of Employment 2012, p.4).

As the Quality Principles aim to outline the department's expectations of service quality, data was collected from Provider CEOs and department Account Managers on the adherence to all Key Performance Measures of the Quality Principles before and after certification. The survey scale provided four categories of response to measure changes to Quality Standard and Quality Principles adherence. Given the limited range of response, it was not possible to identify significant changes through analysis of the pre-Pilot and post-Pilot survey results. This analysis has therefore not been considered as part of this evaluation.

5.2 Client impacts

5.2.1 General Observations

Interestingly, while Account Managers had observed a limited impact on participants, and administrative data clearly shows it is too early to track any changes, survey data indicates the majority of Quality Managers and Provider staff agreed the Pilot had an immediate impact on the services delivered to job seekers and employers.

Quality Managers and CEOs also generally agreed the revised QAF will lead to improvements for clients in the future. When comparing observations made by Quality Managers, CEOs and Account Managers about the future impact of the Pilot QAF on clients, the responses provided by Quality Managers tended to be most optimistic. However, for all categories the negative responses were very low, indicating that even though there is no administrative data to endorse the implementation of the Pilot QAF, Providers felt generally positive about it and Account Managers did not feel negative towards it.

Quality Managers also had the opportunity to consider the impact on the industry more generally in the future. Responses by and large suggest they considered there will be an even greater impact in this respect.

5.2.2 Relationships with stakeholders

The trends noted above are evident when considering views regarding Providers' relationships with stakeholders. For example, 60 per cent of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed the Pilot had led to improvements in their relationships with stakeholders (Figure 5.3). This is one of the lowest recorded current impacts by Quality Managers. However, the response increases to 82 per cent when considering stakeholder relationships in the future and 84 per cent when considering the industry in general.

While Quality Managers and CEOs tended to rate this aspect of Providers' business high in comparison to other aspects, Account Managers consider this to be one of the lowest impacts with high levels of neutral response (48 per cent) (Figure 5.3).

Figure 5.3: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' relationships with stakeholders, comparison between CEOs, Quality Manager and Account Manager (per cent)



Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C19)

5.2.3 Job seeker servicing

In terms of job seekers, surveys focused on the impact or the potential future impact of the Pilot QAF on the Providers' ability to service job seekers and provide improved training and employment outcomes for this client group.

Similar patterns to those noted above were observed (Figures 5.4 and 5.5). Approximately twothirds of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed improvements were currently evident in respect of both of these aspects of job seeker servicing. This rose to approximately three-quarters of Quality Managers in the future for the Provider and over 84 per cent for the industry in general (Figure 5.4 and 5.5).

In comparison to other responses, Account Managers were particularly confident about the impact of the revised QAF on job seekers in the future. Over 40 per cent agreed there would be an impact on the Providers' ability to service job seekers and provide them with improved training and employment outcomes. CEOs and Quality Managers were also optimistic in this respect (Figures 5.4 and 5.5).





Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C20)



Figure 5.5: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' ability to deliver training and employment outcomes for job seekers, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C21)

The Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey (2014) also supported findings relating to Quality Manager observations about the current impact of the Pilot. When asked about improvements in their business compared to 12 months ago, approximately four-fifths of Provider staff indicated they were aware within their organisation there had been changes in job seeker satisfaction with service received, systems and technologies that enable communication with job seekers (and employers) and strategies for monitoring job seeker (and employer) satisfaction. The highest level of increase (86 per cent) was observed in relation to job seeker satisfaction (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6: Provider staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C22) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

5.2.4 Employer servicing

In terms of the level of service provided to employers, the trends are aligned with those outlined in the general observations section. Half of Quality Managers reported they agreed or strongly agreed the Pilot had led to improvements in the ability of a Provider to deliver services to employers. While this figure is comparably low against other responses considering Provider improvement, it does increase when considering the impact on the Provider in 12 months time (to 73 per cent) and the impact on the industry more generally in the future (84 per cent) (Figure 5.7).

Quality Managers have provided a higher level of neutral response in relation to current improvements to employer servicing than for other questions considering Provider improvements (Figure 5.7). This may indicate Quality Managers are less sure about the immediate impact the Pilot has had on servicing employers.



Figure 5.7: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' ability to deliver improved services to employers, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014) (Appendix Table C23)

As noted in Figure 5.6, Provider staff indicated they had observed an overall improvement (79 per cent) in the way Providers communicate with employers. While this is a positive result, in comparison to job seeker considerations the level of improvement against this aspect was not rated as highly.

5.3 Impact on Provider operations

5.3.1 Improved understanding of the Deed

The Employment Services Deed and accompanying guidelines specify the department's expectations regarding the quality of employment services that Providers are contractually obligated to provide. The Pilot QAF brought the details of the Deed to the fore through the introduction of Provider certification against a Quality Standard as well as adherence to a set of Quality Principles specified by the department.

Indications from Quality Managers in the post-Pilot survey suggest the Pilot has already led to improvements in staff understanding of the Deed and departmental guidelines (63 per cent agreed or strongly agreed). This figure increases to 81 per cent when considering the impact in 12 months' time. More generally, the response increases to 90 per cent when considering the impact on the industry in the future. CEOs responses in the post-Pilot survey also support the likelihood that improvement to staff understanding will occur in the future (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8: Improvements from the Pilot on Provider staffs understanding of the Deed and Departmental Guidelines, comparison between Quality Managers, CEOs and Account Managers (per cent)

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C24)

An overwhelming majority of Provider staff at all levels also indicated post-Pilot they had a greater level of awareness of the Deed and departmental guidelines (Figure 5.9).

Figure 5.9: Provider Staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)



Source: JSA Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C25)

Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

Comments submitted by Provider staff in the post-Pilot survey support this assessment:

"As the General Manager I found it invaluable for the staff to gain a greater understanding of why we do what we do and how important it is for our job seekers to have fully qualified staff working with and for them."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"We as a site now have a better understanding and continue to improve our service delivery to internal and external clients by implementing the quality standards and the departmental quality principals."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Implementing the Quality Standards and the Departmental Quality Principles has ensured that I have been staying up to date with company policies & procedures each time that I perform a task. I feel that this has also been the same with each staff member throughout [provider name]."

Administrative staff, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"More knowledge around standards and quality principles has changed the processes and procedures I work from, the dissemination of knowledge to others in the organisation, the recording of information, and my team's understanding of how they contribute to, and how they can uphold these quality standards and principles."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"I believe it made everyone more aware of the need for quality standards and principles to be followed. It made all staff take note of what they have been doing compared to what they should be doing."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

In addition to assisting the operation of the Provider, a greater knowledge of the Deed and departmental Guidelines will likely result in improved service to the department and other clients.

5.3.2 Internal processes

Quality Managers were very positive about the impact the Pilot already had on Providers' internal business processes. Four-fifths (81 per cent) agreed or strongly agreed they had observed improvements. This increased to 91 per cent when considering business improvements in the future and 93 per cent when considering the industry in general.

As previously noted, internal businesses processes were an area Account Managers recognised had improved, with 49 per cent indicating they had seen changes over the last 12 months (Figure 5.2). This suggests initial changes are occurring within Provider businesses and it is anticipated client impacts should be observed in the future as a result of these changes.

When considering the future impact on internal business processes an overwhelming majority of respondents in each category agree or strongly agree the Pilot QAF will have an impact on the Providers' internal business processes (Figure 5.10). CEOs were particularly positive about this future impact of the Pilot QAF.





Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014) (Appendix Table C26)

Comments by Provider staff in the post-Pilot survey suggest they too have observed an impact on Provider processes. In terms of the way the implementation of the Pilot changed their performance in their role, staff comments suggest the structure resulted in them having a better understanding of policies, procedures and guidelines: "Implementing the Quality Standards and the Departmental Quality Principles has ensured that I have been staying up to date with company policies & procedures each time that I perform a task. I feel that this has also been the same with each staff member throughout [Provider name]."

Administrative staff, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"Increased understanding of guidelines and deed. In particular an increased understanding of documentary evidence required and the importance of training staff in fraud prevention."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"More knowledge around standards and quality principles has changed the processes and procedures I work from, the dissemination of knowledge to others in the organisation, the recording of information, and my teams understanding of how they contribute to, and how they can uphold these quality standards and principles"

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Changes to business processes were recognised by some Account Managers who had the opportunity to provide observer feedback after attending Provider audits. When asked 'by attending the Quality Standards, was further assurance offered to you as a Contract Manager that the right processes and systems were being undertaken at site?':

"Yes, the visit provided an insight into the organisations claiming processes. The organisation appear[s] to have in place well documented procedures and tracking claim processes."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

"Yes, The provider appeared to be acting to assist clients and processes were being followed and interactions and interventions being recorded. As clients moved through various phases the consultants appeared to be adhering to the requirements. Staff appeared focused on the task and aware of recording events in addition to the management of the client."

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

"...attending the audit did provide further assurance that processes and systems undertaken at the site were right. The provider in question has been overall trending upwards in their performance and much of the increase has been due to the managerial restructure and implementation of new processes. It was good to see these processes in action and to see the depth of knowledge and resources that staff has at their disposal to ensure that standards of compliance are being met.

Account Manager, Department of Employment (Observer Feedback for Pilot Audits)

5.3.3 Staff engagement and support

A large majority of Provider staff agreed in the post-Pilot survey that they, as well as staff at their site, had been engaged in the roll out of the Quality Standards and Quality Principles.



Figure 5.11: Provider staff engagement in roll out of Quality Standards and Quality Principles (per cent)

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey (Appendix Table C27)

Provider staff agreed introduction of the Pilot QAF had resulted in improvements concerning their role within the organisation (Figure 5.12):

- 74 per cent of Provider staff indicated the introduction of the Pilot QAF helped them better understand their role.
- Approximately two-thirds of Provider staff agreed or strongly agreed there was improved support available to their role (68 per cent).
- 62 per cent of staff indicated they had changed the way they performed their role as a result of the implementation of the Pilot QAF.

Figure 5.12: Provider Staff awareness of changes to aspects of their role (compared to 12 months ago)



Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C28)

Comments received as part of the Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 support this:

"[The QAF] gave me an understanding of the requirements needed which in turn enhanced my teaching/learning abilities."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"[The QAF] encourage[d] me to obtain relevant information in order to perform my role, and the quality standards within our organisation provides the added support."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"It [the QAF]... made our staff more accountable for the actions they were taking on a day to day basis. We also introduced multi-layer checking mechanisms to improve compliance and identify deficiencies."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"It helped me with better understanding of my role and made it easier."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

Although Provider staff were generally positive about the impact of the Pilot QAF on their role, there was a small proportion (nine per cent) who did not feel the Pilot QAF had an effect on their understanding of, or conduct in, their role:

"I don't believe it is the Quality Standards principles that result in quality services being delivered to job seekers/clients and/or employers. I believe it is the people who are passionate about changing the lived of their clients who have the endurance and courage to see beyond the bureaucracy and pressure of ridiculous auditing processes and standards".

Employment consultant, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

In addition to role clarification, results from the Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 indicated improvements to staff support have been observed internally. These changes suggested opportunities are being explored to improve Provider operations, which can be expected to ultimately improve the way the Providers deliver employment services. Compared to 12 months earlier (Figure 5.13):

- 89 per cent of staff reported changes to the visibility of leadership within their organisation, with 93 per cent of these reporting that leadership was more visible in the organisation.
- 81 per cent saw a change in their access to workplace support, with 95 per cent of these reporting their access to workplace support had increased.
- 80 per cent reported a change to access to training and development, with 95 per cent of these reporting that access had increased.



Figure 5.13: Provider staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey 2014, (Appendix Table C29) Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated

Note. The don't know category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated

In relation to training, a staff member reported in the Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 that:

"The implementation of training relating to the standards and principles gave me a greater understanding of these key areas. Re- focusing on the requirements has provided me with more confidence within my role. The organisation is keen to ensure every staff member is provided with quality training to assist with the service delivery."

Manager, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

5.3.4 Staff performance

Survey results suggest the Pilot resulted in improvements to current staff performance and that performance levels will continue to improve in the future for the Provider, as well as the industry. The internal changes to Provider operations noted above would have supported these observed improvements.

Though still positive, CEOs were slightly less optimistic than Quality Managers when considering the role of the revised QAF in improving staff performance in the future (64 per cent as compared with 81 per cent of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed). A higher proportion also had a neutral response (27 per cent of CEOs compared with 11 per cent of Quality Managers), indicating CEOs are perhaps more cautious, or less sure of the impact the revised QAF will have on staff performance (Figure 5.14).



Figure 5.14: Pilot has led to improvements in: Staff performance, comparison between CEOs and Quality Managers

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C30)

Results in the Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey (2014) also suggest the Pilot had an impact on current levels of staff performance (Figure 5.15), although it is noted that a very small proportion though their own performance (2 per cent) and that of staff more generally (9 per cent) had decreased.

Figure 5.15: JSA Provider Staff responses (per cent) to their awareness to changes to aspects of their businesses' compared to 12 months ago



Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C31)

Note: The "don't know" category has been removed from the graph, values recalculated.

Comments provided by Provider staff support this:

"It has improved my performance, and my confidence to keep improving in my role."

Administrative Staff, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

"I am now more aware of my role in upholding the quality standards and have been able to monitor the sites performance more accurately against this measure"

Employment Consultant, Provider (Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014)

5.4 Cost / benefit considerations

As detailed above, Provider Quality Managers and staff perceive there have been a number of immediate benefits as a result of the Pilot, specifically in relation to servicing of clients and internal business operations. CEOs and Quality Managers are also optimistic about the impact the revised QAF will have in future both in terms of their businesses and the industry more generally.

In addition, as previously outlined in section 4.4.2 of the report the Pilot has established that there is evidence that a QAF may show more potential for driving continuous improvement than the existing KPI 3 Quality Framework has previously been able to achieve.

These benefits need to be balanced against the cost and time requirements reported by Providers participating in the Pilot which were in excess of Provider expectations.

While there was a large range of response from Providers concerning associated costs of the audit, the costs reported by some Providers were sometimes significant (see Figures 4.5 and 4.6). Approximately one-third of CEOs (five in total) and Quality Managers (six in total) who were aware of the costs of the audit reported the cost to be \$50,000 or more (the highest cost reported being \$150,000 by a Quality Manager and \$100,000 by a CEO). In particular, preparation for the audit was considered to be very costly:

- Of the Quality Managers who were aware of the costs, 42 per cent (seven Quality Managers) reported these costs to be \$100,000 or more.
- 12 per cent of CEOs (two in total) and Quality Managers (two in total) who were aware of the costs reported these costs to be \$200,000 or more.
- The highest cost specified by a Quality Manager was \$260,000 and \$250,000 for a CEO.

Given these reported costs, it is unsurprising that there were relatively low levels of agreement when Providers were asked to consider if the Pilot represented value for money. Just over one-third (35 per cent) of CEOs agreed or strongly agreed the audit process did provide value for money, while almost one-third (30 per cent) disagreed or strongly disagreed. Of the Quality Managers who responded, nearly half (47 per cent) agreed or strongly agreed the audit represented value for money, while a quarter (24 per cent) felt it did not (Figure 5.16).



Figure 5.16: CEO and Quality Managers views (per cent) on whether the audit process has provided value for money

The time taken to implement the Pilot QAF within the required timeframe was also a reported challenge for Providers. While the reported median hours spent preparing for and supporting the audit was 500 hours:

- 18 per cent of Quality Managers (seven in total) indicated they spent 2,000 hours or more
- 8 per cent of Quality Managers (three in total) indicated they spent 5,000 hours or more, and
- the highest recorded hours was 6,088.

In the time since the Pilot was introduced, the Australian Government has committed to reduce the amount of red tape to ease the regulatory burden for Australian businesses. The evaluation notes that the department is cognisant of the ongoing need to monitor the requirements and benefits of the QAF.

Encouragingly, in spite of the concerns raised by Providers in relation to time and resources, an overwhelming majority of CEOs (71 per cent) and Quality Managers (92 per cent) agreed or strongly agreed the audit had been a positive investment of time. Only three per cent of Quality Managers disagreed the Pilot had been a positive investment of time. This figure is higher for CEOs (18 per cent disagree or strongly disagree) suggesting the negative aspects associated with the Pilot had a greater impact on them (Figure 4.12).

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C12) Note: The "don't know" category for Quality Managers has been removed from the graph, values recalculated



Figure 5.17: CEO and Quality Manager views (per cent) on whether the audit and certification process has been a positive investment of time

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 (Appendix Table C16)

Given the data limitations for this evaluation it is not possible to determine whether the potential benefits resulting from the Pilot QAF, as identified by Providers directly through this evaluation, outweigh the reported costs. While Providers perceive there will be improvements to client services and Provider operations, the costs of achieving these results were in some cases significant.

Comments made by two Provider CEOs as part of the post-Pilot survey are particularly concerning:

- "We could have the highest quality service and go broke implementing and maintaining a quality standard" and
- "The time taken to resource participation in the Pilot is time taken away from supporting job seekers".

These comments along with the limited cost / benefit analysis undertaken and findings of this evaluation suggest work is required to ensure a future QAF model enables Providers to efficiently and effectively implement the requirements with minimal impact to costs, time and resources. If costs can be reduced, it is anticipated introduction of a national QAF model will be beneficial for Providers and their service delivery to clients.

5.5 Summary

The assessment of whether the Pilot QAF has positively or negatively impacted the performance of Providers participating in the Pilot has been limited by the following factors:

- No discernable patterns were identified through analysis of KPI 3 data. It is recognised this is due to the lag between implementation of the Pilot QAF and changes to the impact on Provider performance being evident.
- The time taken for new policies and procedures to permeate the organisation's culture and manifest into a tangible impact on performance.
- Account Managers have not yet generally observed improvements to the relationships Providers have with clients, such as job seekers and employers, or the level of service provided to them. This reflects the likelihood that information collected in February 2014 in the Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey was collected too early in the process for Account Managers to have observed changes that can be attributed to the Pilot QAF.
- While data was collected from CEOs and Account Managers on the adherence to all Key Performance Measures of the Quality Principles before and after certification, it was not possible to identify significant changes.
- While feedback obtained from stakeholders directly as part of this evaluation can assist to determine the current and expected impact, caution should be applied as:
 - The Pilot sample is not necessarily representative of the Provider population in which case the views expressed might not reflect the range of views on issues highlighted by the Pilot.
 - There may be an element of 'pilot effect' reflected in these results as Pilot participants are generally enthusiastic about the impact that their increased efforts will have.

Given these limitations, the department may wish to consider options to assess the impact of any future QAF on the performance of Providers. It is acknowledged KPI 3 data alone (in its current form) may not be an appropriate measure of service quality given the Pilot QAF was introduced because the existing KPI 3 framework did not effectively measure, monitor or assure continuous improvement in Provider quality of service delivery.

Provider Quality Managers and staff generally agree the Pilot had an immediate impact on the quality of service delivery with levels of disagreement low (at between five and 11 per cent) when considering Provider relationships with clients, job seeker servicing and employer servicing.

Sixty per cent of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed the Pilot had led to improvements in their relationships with stakeholders. The results for job seeker servicing were most encouraging:

- Approximately two-thirds of Quality Managers agreed or strongly agreed improvements were evident in the Providers' ability to service job seekers and provide improved employment outcomes for these clients.
- Four-fifths of Provider staff indicated they were aware within their organisation there had changes been changes in the last 12 months in job seeker satisfaction with service received, systems and technologies that enable communication with job seekers and strategies for monitoring job seeker satisfaction.
In comparison, the results for servicing of employers are lower but still promising:

- 50 per cent of Quality Managers reported they agreed or strongly agreed the Pilot had led to improvements in the ability of the Provider to deliver services to employers.
- 79 per cent of Provider staff indicated they had observed an overall improvement in the way Providers communicate with employers.
- Quality Managers also provided a higher level of neutral response when considering current improvements to employer servicing, possibly suggesting they are less sure about the Pilot's immediate impact on employer servicing.

Provider staff and Quality Managers are also very positive about the impact the Pilot had on current business operations in the Provider organisations, with strong improvements evident for:

- the level of understanding of the Deed and accompanying guidelines
- staff understanding of their role and conduct in their role
- leadership visibility, access to workplace support and training and development, and
- staff performance.

The survey responses Account Managers provided in relation to improvements observed for changes to business processes and staff engagement suggest changes have commenced at an internal business level to support implementation of the Pilot QAF. It is anticipated this would be the initial step in implementing the revised QAF and it is reasonable to expect the impact on clients will become more apparent as time progresses.

Account Managers, CEOs and Quality Managers generally agree the Pilot QAF will lead to improvements in future, both in terms of the impact on clients as well as the internal operation of Providers. The views of Quality Managers are the most positive, followed by CEOs then Account Managers. Quality Managers are also positive about the impact of the Pilot QAF on the industry in general in the future.

In terms of the future impact of the introduction of the Pilot QAF, Account Managers have provided a higher level of neutral and "don't know" responses when considering potential improvements for Providers. This non-committal response may indicate that Account Managers were not heavily involved in the Pilot QAF development process.

While this evaluation has considered costs and benefits, the data limitations make it difficult to ascertain if the potential benefits of the Pilot QAF outweigh the reported costs. The feedback received from Providers as part of this evaluation cannot be relied upon to provide an objective assessment of whether the Pilot QAF has actually driven improvements to service delivery. This level of analysis cannot be undertaken until the views of clients, including job seekers and employers, are collected and considered.

It is noted that Providers themselves have indicated they have seen short term improvements to client services and Provider operations, and expect longer term impacts to be more favourable. They also overwhelming agree that involvement in the Pilot had been a positive investment of time.

Opportunities for improvement were recognised by many Providers, particularly by CEOs with 18 per cent disagreeing or strongly disagreeing the Pilot had been a positive investment of time and only 35

per cent agreeing the Pilot represented value for money. On occasion, the costs of achieving the perceived benefits have been significant and for the majority of Providers more than expected.

Some of these views can be accounted for on the basis that certification for the Pilot QAF was a new process unknown to Providers and has more components than Providers have been required to undertake previously. There was also a relatively large amount of administrative work and red tape required to become certified under the Pilot QAF, particularly given the duplication issues with the Quality Standards and Quality Principles. While for some Providers the cost and time burdens may be considered significant, it is expected that improvements can be made as the department and Providers become more familiar with the intricacies and processes involved in establishing and maintaining a QAF.

To better balance benefits against costs and time pressures the department may also consider some changes to the Pilot model for future rollout of the QAF on a large scale. It would also be useful to consider the requirements of a national QAF model in line with the Government's commitment to reduce red tape. The considerations outlined in Section 6 of the report are recommended to support large scale roll out of a national QAF model.

6. Considerations for the future implementation of a Quality Assurance Framework

This section summarises some of the learnings from the Pilot process for the implementation of the QAF across the industry. It also includes considerations for how the framework might be monitored and evaluated into the future.

6.1 Preparation of Providers and auditors for audit process

The communication tools for dissemination of information to both Providers and auditors were generally well received. The Activity 2 Instructions, Evidence Guide, Provider Preparation Kit, Provider Portal and Newsletters were considered to be the most effective communication tools.

Webinars are an effective means of disseminating information and worked well for auditors but not Providers. The department will need to consider how to improve the content and presentation of webinars for Providers if they are to be a more valuable tool in the future implementation of the QAF. Specifically, Providers requested the webinars provide more practical information and allow more interaction between participants. While auditors considered the information sessions presented via webinar to be an effective communication tool, they would appreciate more flexibility in the timing of future presentations.

The department also has opportunities to improve the use of govdex.gov.au in the future implementation of the QAF. Govdex has the potential to be an interactive forum but Providers and auditors were unaware of it or did not see any value utilising it. It is difficult to determine from this evaluation what the underlying issues were with Govdex. However, given the high proportion of Providers that were unable to rate its quality, better promotion of the tool and the benefits will assist Providers and auditors to utilise it more in future.

In terms of the flow and relevance of information, a future challenge for the department is to consider how best to provide relevant and appropriate information directly to the different parties involved in the process, particularly auditors. By way of an example, consideration could be given to whether auditors need a copy of the entire Employment Services Deed or whether it would be more pertinent provide a summary with access to a Contract Manager or an expert from the department who could answer a Deed-related question should the need arise.

Future considerations:

1 Explore options to better educate Providers about the administration of the audit and the certification process, including the time it takes to achieve certification. In particular re-evaluate webinar content for Providers to include more practical information (real world examples from Providers who have already gone through the process) and make them more interactive.

- 2 Explore options to ensure auditors are better prepared for the audit, in terms of their knowledge of employment services, the JSA model and the Employment Services Deed, and understand the quality and level of detail required in audit reports. For instance:
 - Provide copies of best practice audit reports.
 - Provide an initial face-to-face information session for auditors on the panel, as well as regular information sessions to provide updates regarding audit practices.
 - For the purpose of certifying against the QAF, restrict the auditor panel to only those auditors only who have some working knowledge of employment services.
 - Provide an Auditor Portal, or access to a section of the Provider Portal, to make information readily available to auditors.
 - Schedule auditor webinar presentations well in advance and provide sufficient notice.
 - Promote the availability of recorded webinar presentations on Govdex.
- 3 Tailor the content and amount of written information available to auditors and Providers and consider options to supplement written information, for example by continuing (and promoting) the availability of the central QAF phone number and email address.

6.2 The Quality Standards and the Quality Principles

Some Providers had difficulty selecting and completing certification with their chosen Quality Standard throughout the Pilot process as evidenced by the one in five Providers that reported switching part way through the process. In addition, a number of Providers also withdrew from the process as they were not able to meet the required timeframes (14 Providers in total).

The different requirements of each Quality Standard and the amount of work and preparation required for certification comparative to the business model was a key consideration in selecting a Quality Standard. For example, Providers with both Disability Employment Services and JSA interests initially considered the Disability Service Standards for certification, however they found it to be onerous due to the proportion of client interviews required. Employment Services Industry Standards was also a problem for those who selected it as it had not been accredited when the Pilot began.

Other considerations in selection of a Standard were the reported overlap between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles and within the Quality Principles themselves. This issue is already being considered by the department and is expected to be improved in the future QAF. While it is acknowledged that some duplication may be unavoidable due to the generic but different content of each Quality Standard, it will need to be minimised as far as possible to streamline the audit process and ensure reported time and cost burdens are reduced.

Providers should be made aware how the Quality Standard they choose relates to the Quality Principles, for example, by identifying gaps and overlays and how their choice will impact the audit and longer term resourcing implications.

Whatever their choice, there was a large amount of administrative work required to become certified under the Pilot QAF. This is expected to decrease as the process improves but would be useful to consider the national QAF in line with the Government's commitment to reduce red tape.

Future considerations:

- 4 Provide information on the requirements of each Quality Standard to guide Providers in their selection of a Quality Standard for their business model. Supply information that maps the departmental Quality Principles with each of the Quality Standards.
- 5 Continue the work the department has already commenced to streamline the sampling requirements and reduce the duplication between the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles (and the Key Performance Measures within).

6.3 Monitoring and evaluating the impact of the QAF into the future

Anecdotally, auditors have raised the issue of whether the Pilot QAF was intended to assess Provider compliance or assess the quality of services delivered by Providers. This issue has been raised in particular given the apparent duplication and overlap of the Quality Standards and Quality Principles.

For this evaluation there is no distinguished measure of quality for the Pilot QAF. The delay between implementation of the revised QAF and observable changes to Provider performance has meant available KPI 3 data does not identify any discernable trends to determine whether the Pilot had a positive or negative impact on the delivery of employment services. Further, it is unclear whether the use of current KPI 3 data in the future will be sufficient to measure and monitor the quality of Providers' delivery of services as the Pilot QAF model was considered on the basis that the current KPI 3 Quality Framework did not effectively assure continuous improvement.

Feedback collected from Account Managers suggested information collected via the post-Pilot survey was sought too early in the process for them to observe changes resulting from the Pilot QAF. Future evaluation should consider how the views of Account Managers can be considered noting that options to ensure greater involvement of Account Managers should be pursued.

Future evaluation of a QAF should also collect feedback directly from Providers' clients, including job seekers and employers, and not rely solely on Provider perspectives to determine the impact.

In addition, auditors views were not thoroughly canvassed as part of this evaluation given the low level of feedback received through the Auditor Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and the Auditor focus groups. The department may wish to consider how it can better capture auditor feedback as part of the new QAF, given they have a key role in the process.

Given the limitations of this evaluation, consideration may also be given as to whether it is worthwhile monitoring the performance of Providers who participated in the Pilot. This would enable the department to monitor any medium to long term impacts on the servicing of clients and support any future evaluation conducted of the new QAF.

Future considerations:

6 Consider how best to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of a future QAF on an ongoing basis, taking into account the appropriateness and relevance of retaining the current KPI 3 as a measure of quality assurance, given the requirements of Quality Standards and Quality

Principles. Explore options to ensure the views of Account Managers, Provider clients (such as job seekers and employers) and auditors are better captured.

7 Consider options to increase Account Managers' involvement in QAF development and implementation.

7. Conclusion

The Pilot Instructions specified that an aim of the Pilot QAF was to encourage Providers to strive for continuous improvement in the delivery of employment services. Feedback collected through this evaluation suggests that key informants believe the revised QAF will drive continuous improvement and may have greater potential in this regard than the KPI 3 Quality Framework.

Quality Managers generally considered that the audit was or had been focused on continuous improvement (86 per cent did not disagree). A minority (11 per cent) recognised that it was 'too early to tell'. Quality Managers also had the opportunity to comment on the main benefit of participating in the Pilot. One quarter of Quality Managers who provided comments indicated they believed continuous improvement had been a key benefit.

For this evaluation, it is not possible to identify any discernable trends in KPI 3 data to determine whether the Pilot has had a positive or negative impact on the delivery of employment services. A shift in business processes and culture will be required for a change of this nature and there will be a lag between implementation of the Pilot QAF and an observable impact on Pilot Provider's performance.

The relevance of using current KPI 3 data in the future to appropriately measure, monitor or assure continuous improvement in Provider quality of service delivery is questionable, given the Pilot QAF was introduced because the existing KPI 3 framework did not effectively do this. To more effectively monitor and evaluate the impact of any future QAF, the department may need to consider the methods and indicators that will be adopted in the future.

While there is no administrative data available to measure the impact of the Pilot QAF on Providers and their clients, for the purposes of drawing findings together for this report the evaluation has relied on Providers' perceptions to measure how well the Pilot QAF has been implemented and whether it has, or will in the future, improve the quality of Providers' services.

Survey results are promising. Provider Quality Managers and staff felt very positive about the impact the Pilot had on their business, both in terms of improvements to service delivery, as well as changes at an internal operational level. Quality Managers, and to a lesser extent CEOs, were also optimistic about the impact the Pilot QAF would have longer-term.

Balanced against these benefits, the time and cost to participate in the Pilot exceeded Providers' expectations and does appear excessive in some cases. Some of the resources can be accounted for in lack of preparedness, for example, a poor choice of Standard for the organisation to certify against, or not having correct documentation on hand for the auditor.

Some factors, however, added unnecessary time and consequent cost to the audit and were beyond Providers' control. In particular, the overlap between the Quality Standards and Quality Principles (and the KPIs within them) could account for some of the time and cost burdens. While it is important to capture multiple aspects of the Provider's business to gauge quality, duplicating the assessment of any part of the business is inefficient and places a greater burden on Providers' time, money and resources. It is recommended that this aspectbe addressed in any new QAF and it is noted the department has commenced work on this.

Other factors the Provider was unable to regulate may also have contributed to the cost and time burdens of the audit. For instance, waiting for Employment Services Industry Standards to be certified, excessive sampling requirements for compliance and the lack of understanding auditors had about the process, the Deed and JSA more generally.

This Pilot process was intended to refine both the future QAF and its implementation. While the shortcomings of the Pilot QAF are acknowledged, an overwhelming majority of Providers recognised involvement in the Pilot was a positive investment of time. This suggests that if changes are made to the Pilot model to reduce costs and ease large-scale implementation Providers will be more engaged and committed to the future QAF.

On the basis of this result and the known shortcomings of the current KPI 3 Quality Framework, the evaluation finds in favour of a revised QAF to drive continuous improvement in service delivery. The adoption of the recommendations in this report will assist to ensure a QAF rolled out nationally operates as efficiently and effectively as possible.

Appendix A: Quality Assurance Framework



Appendix B: Data sources

There have been eight online surveys and two auditor focus groups undertaken specifically to inform this evaluation. In addition, ongoing KPI 3 measures have also been used for the evaluation.

KPI 3

The baseline data considered as part of the evaluation is limited to the five quantitative measures collected six-monthly for KPI 3 assessment. To see any indicative changes resulting from the Pilot, four sets of data were compared:

- 1 January 2012 to 30 June 2012
- 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012
- 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013
- 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2013

There are some limitations in using this data. The methodology for collecting the data changed between the six monthly periods and they are therefore not directly comparable.

Provider feedback

As at 31 March 2014, 48 Providers had participated in the Pilot. This includes 12 Activity 1 and 36 Activity 2 Providers. Information was collected from various staffing levels of the Provider organisation.

CEO Pre-Pilot Survey

The CEO Pre-Pilot Survey, 2013 was conducted online to seek feedback from Provider Chief Executive Officers (CEOs) participating in the Pilot. In the survey, CEOs assessed their organisations' adherence to each of the Key Performance Measures across the Quality Principles prior to certification. The performance strengths and weaknesses of the Providers' business processes were examined to inform the baseline assessment for the evaluation of the Pilot QAF.

Table B1: Survey Statistics – CEO Pre-Pilot Survey

rable bir barrey bratistics			
Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date	
41	7 March 2013	10 July 2013	

Mid Pilot Review

The Mid Pilot Review, 2013 was an online survey that sought feedback about the certification process from Providers participating in the Pilot. CEOs or Quality Managers completed this survey on behalf of a Provider organisation.

Providers were asked about their current activities in implementing the Pilot QAF, their preparation for the certification process, their choice of Quality Standards and anticipated timeframes for certification.

Feedback was given on the quality, volume, availability and gaps of various information sources from the Department. Providers reported on how they selected their auditor, their communications with the auditors and their activities in preparing for the audit.

Open ended feedback was collected on the benefits and challenges from participating in the Pilot. Recommendations were provided regarding the implementation of a new QAF as part of the next employment services contract, planned to be implemented on 1 July 2015.

Table B2: Survey Statistics – Mid Pilot Review

Tuble DE. Survey Statistics			
Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date	
36	8 July 2013	19 September 2013	

CEO Post-Pilot Survey

Provider CEOs were also surveyed online post-Pilot to observe the differences in adherence levels to the Key Performance Measures under the Quality Principles from the baseline. The survey was reviewed by peak bodies prior to being administered.

Additionally, the CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 explored their decisions and experiences with their chosen Quality Standards and auditors. Specific questions were administered to providers who experienced delays or exited from the Pilot.

Data was collected on the resource demands in the Pilot and if they were consistent with CEO's expectations for the implementation of the Pilot QAF. CEOs provided perspectives on the value of the Pilot QAF for improvements in their business. Open ended feedback in relation to the benefits and challenges in their participation in the Pilot were provided along with suggestions to improve the implementation process.

Table B3: Survey Statistics – CEO Post-Pilot Survey

Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date
22	10 February 2014	24 February 2014

Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey

The Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 was an online survey to form a comprehensive source of feedback from the Quality Managers of providers participating in the Pilot. The survey was reviewed by peak bodies prior to being administered.

Quality Managers provided feedback on the quality, volume, availability and gaps of various information sources from the department. The survey explored Quality Managers' experiences with the certification process, their decisions of choosing an appropriate quality standard, and their perspectives on the benefits and challenges associated with a choice of Quality Standards.

Data was collected on the resource demands in the Pilot and if they were consistent with the Quality Managers' expectations for the implementation of the Pilot QAF. Quality Managers were asked if they experienced any delays and unexpected events in the certification process, and what timeframes are appropriate for certification. Quality Managers provided feedback on the audit process, including auditor selection and their relationships with auditors.

The survey explored Quality Managers perspectives of the role of the Pilot QAF in improving facets of their business processes in their organisation and the industry. Open ended feedback in relation to the benefits and challenges in their participation in the Pilot were provided along with suggestions to improve the implementation process.

Table B4: Survey Statistics – Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey				
Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date		
40	10 February 2014	24 February 2014		

Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey

The Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 was an online survey conducted in February 2014 that asked Pilot site office staff about their awareness of changes to business practices. The survey was reviewed by peak bodies prior to being administered.

The survey assessed whether Provider staff experienced changes to the aspects of their business addressed by the Pilot QAF over the past 12 months. Provider staff reported their engagement with the implementation of the Pilot QAF and the effect it had on their roles. Open ended feedback in relation to their participation was also provided to inform the ongoing refinement of any QAF over the new employment services contract.

Table B5: Survey Statistics – Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey

Tuble DS. Survey Statistics – Frovider Staff Fost-Friot Survey					
Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date			
339	10 February 2014	24 February 2014			
Table B6: Respondent occupation –	Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey	,			
Position occupied		Respondents			
Employment Consultant		135			
Manager		114			
Administrative Staff		31			
Other		59			

Account Manager feedback

As at 30 March 2014, a total of 15 Account Managers (or Contract Managers) from the department had been involved in the Pilot.

Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey

The Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey, 2013 was conducted online and examined participating Account Managers' assessments of Providers' current adherence to Key Performance Measures of the Quality Principles before certification. Account Managers provided their views on the performance strengths and weaknesses of Providers' business processes.

Feedback was also taken from Account Managers regarding areas of focus to measure the effectiveness of the introduction of a new QAF.

Table B7: Survey Statistics – Account Manager Pre-Pilot Survey

Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date	
49	28 March 2013	18 September 2013	

Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey

Account Managers were also surveyed online post-Pilot to observe the differences in adherence levels from the baseline in this survey.

Account Managers were asked about the changes of various facets of the Provider's business processes over the last 12 months. Account Managers reported if the Pilot impacted their relationships with Providers and if they believed the Pilot led to improvements in Providers' service quality. Additional open ended feedback on the benefits and challenges in relation to Providers' participation in the Pilot were also collected.

Table B8: Survey Statistics – Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey

Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date	
44	4 February 2014	13 February 2014	

Auditor feedback

As at 30 March 2014, over 40 auditors from 15 organisations had been involved in audits under the Pilot.

Auditor Focus Groups

Two webinar based focus groups were conducted in early 2014 with the auditors and certification body representatives participating in the Pilot. The department's focus group conductor verbally asked the questions based on a discussion guide. The respondents communicated to the conductor predominantly by the 'chat' feature of the webinar software package and these messages were then communicated to other attendees. Respondents were also given the opportunity to ask questions or provide responses verbally if they desired.

Feedback was given on the quality, volume, availability and gaps of various information sources from the department. The views of auditors on the audit process were explored, which included their communication with Providers, their opinions on the evidence and sampling requirements, and their experience with certifying against the Quality Standards and the Quality Principles.

Data was collected on the timeframes of various stages in the audit process and what auditors believe to be sufficient time for an audit. Auditors were given the opportunity to ask questions and give feedback on any topics not covered in the discussion guide in relation to their experience in participating in the Pilot.

Auditors were informed of an upcoming online survey which would address issues raised in the focus group and provide further opportunities to offer feedback about the Pilot QAF.

Table B9: Statistics – Auditor Focus Groups				
Session	Session date	Number of attendees		
Focus Group 1	31 January 2014	12		
Focus Group 2	06 February 2014	7		

Auditor Post-Pilot Survey

The Auditor Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 was an online survey carried out in late February 2014 following the Auditor focus groups. The question themes reflect the additional insight gained from the focus groups on the information provision by the department, the audit process and certification requirements.

There was a low level of response, with only nine completed responses received (by auditors from only five organisations). As a result, the responses are unlikely to be representative of the full group of auditors in the Pilot. Thus the information used from this survey consists of quotes from the open ended feedback, to provide qualitative perspectives on evidence gained from other data sources informing the evaluation.

Open ended feedback were collected for various areas of interests, including areas of duplication in certification requirements, auditors' opinions on the importance in various sources of evidence required in the audit, the information provided to them and other comments or suggestions in regarding the Pilot.

Table B10: Statistics – Auditor Post-Pilot Survey

Table Bior Statistics - Taalton Post Photoantey					
Number of respondents	Survey start date	Survey end date			
9	05 March 2014	17 March 2014			

Appendix C: Data tables

Table C1: Provider responses (per cent) on the usefulness of various departmental information sources on providing adequate information in understanding the audit requirements

	Not Useful	Somewhat Useful	Useful	Very Useful
Pilot Instructions	-	14	61	25
Activity 2 Instructions	-	19	50	31
Provider Preparation Kit	-	14	53	33

Source: The Mid Pilot Review, 2013

Note: 36 responses

Table C2: Quality Managers responses (per cent) on the quality of various departmental information sources

	Very low	Low	Adequate	High	Very high	Don't Know
Provider Portal	-	5	45	37	13	-
Newsletters	-	5	53	26	11	5
Activity 2 Instructions	-	5	37	32	24	3
Webinars	5	16	37	34	8	-
Govdex.gov.au	3	11	42	5	3	37
Provider Preparation Kit	-	5	47	18	21	8

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 38 responses

Table C3: Provider responses (per cent) on how they seek clarification for questions not raised in the audit

Response	Proportion (%)
Consult internally	6
Email esqualitystandards@deewr.gov.au	38
Phone DEEWR Quality Assurance Framework Team	13
Consult with auditor	25
Haven't queried as of yet	19

Source: The Mid Pilot Review, 2013 Note: 16 responses

Table C4: Quality Managers assessment (per cent) of usefulness of the Evidence Guide

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know
The Evidence Guide helped you prepare for the audit	-	3	3	66	26	3
The Evidence Guide was relevant to your organisation	-	5	3	55	34	3

Source: Quality Manager Post- Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 38 responses

Table C5: Provider responses (frequency) on ranking factors of choice of auditor

	RANK 1	RANK 2	RANK 3	RANK 4	RANK 5
Fit with your organisation	5	16	9	3	3
Reputation of Auditor	3	10	12	8	3
Having engaged auditor previously	14	1	5	3	13
Auditors' comprehension of the process	6	7	6	11	6
Cost	8	2	4	11	11

Source: The Mid Pilot Review, 2013 Note: 36 Responses

Table C6: Quality Managers views (per cent) on whether they would engage the same auditor in the future

Response	Proportion (%)
Yes	50
Νο	8
Don't know	42

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 38 Responses

Table C7: Hours of communication time between organisation and the auditor prior to audit (per cent)

Response	Proportion (%)
0 Hours	3
1 – 5 Hours	25
6 – 10 Hours	8
11 – 20 Hours	31
21 – 50 Hours	11
Have not consulted yet	22

Source: The Mid Pilot Review, 2013 Note: 36 responses

Table C8: Quality Manager views on the conduct of the audit being aligned with the aims of the process (per cent)

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Conducted with proficiency and due professional care	3	8	11	34	32	5	8
Consistent with the Employment Services Deed 2012 – 2015 and its Principles		5	8	40	34	5	8
Results – focussed	-	5	8	50	21	5	11
Evidence – based	-	3	5	40	40	5	8
Flexible to meet Providers' needs	-	11	13	37	26	5	8
Focussed on continuous improvement	-	3	11	24	47	5	11
Fair open and transparent	-	3	13	37	34	8	8
Conducted ethically and will withstand public scrutiny	-	-	8	37	42	5	8
Independent and objective	-	5	5	37	40	5	8
Protected the confidentiality of information within the boundaries of the Employment Services Deed 2012 – 2015	-	-	5	34	47	5	8
Conducted in accordance with the relevant approved Quality Standard	-	3	3	32	47	8	8

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 38 responses

Cost	Proportion (%) of QMs	Proportion (%) of CEOs
\$10,000 - \$19,999	3	24
\$20,000 – 39,999	8	29
\$40,000 – 59,999	11	29
\$60,000 - \$79,999	3	-
\$80,000 - \$99,999	3	-
\$100,000 - \$199,999	13	6
\$200,000 - \$250,000	5	12
Don't know	55	-

Table C9: Cost of preparation for certification, as reported by CEOs and Quality Managers

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 17 responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C10: Cost of the audit, as reported by CEOs and Quality Managers

Cost	Proportion (%) of QM	Proportion (%) of CEOs
\$- \$9,999	5	12
\$10,000 - \$19,999	8	12
\$20,000 - \$29,999	11	6
\$30,000 - \$39,999	11	12
\$40,000 - \$49,999	8	29
\$50,000 - \$59,999	8	18
\$60,000 - \$99,999	3	6
\$100,000 - \$149,999	3	6
\$150,000 - \$159,999	3	0
Don't know/ unable to respond	42	-

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 17 responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Response	Proportion (%)
More than expected	37
Matched expectations	16
Less than expected	5
Don't know	42

Table C11: Cost against expectation (per cent) of participating in the Pilot, as reported by Quality Managers

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 38 responses

Table C12: CEO and Quality Manager views (per cent) on whether the audit process has provided value for money

Response	CEO	QM
Strongly Disagree	12	-
Disagree	18	21
Neither agree nor disagree	35	26
Agree	29	32
Strongly Agree	6	11
Don't know	-	11

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C13: Hours of staff time spent preparing for and supporting the audit, as reported by Quality Managers (per cent)

Hours	Proportion (%)
0 – 99 hours	21
100 – 399 hours	18
400 – 799 hours	21
800 – 1199 hours	13
1200 – 1999 hours	8
2000 – 2999 hours	5
3000 – 3999 hours	5
4000 – 4999 hours	0
5000 – 5999 hours	5
6000 – 6999 hours	3

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 38 responses

Table C14: Time spent preparing for and supporting the audit compared to expectations, as reported byQuality Managers

Response	Proportion (%)
More than expected	68
About the same as expected	26
Less than expected	5

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 38 responses

Table C15: Appropriate timeframe (in percent) for certification against a Quality Standard and the QualityPrinciples, as reported by Quality Managers

Response	Proportion (%)
Less than 6 months	8
6 to less than 9 months	16
9 to less than 12 months	8
12 to less than 18 months	47
18 months or more	13
Don't know	8
Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014	

Note: 38 responses

Table C16: CEO and Quality Manager views (per cent) on whether the audit and certification process has been a positive investment of time

Response	CEO	QM
Strongly Disagree	6	-
Disagree	12	3
Neither agree nor disagree	12	5
Agree	53	58
Strongly Agree	18	32
Don't know	-	3

Source: CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Response	Proportion (%)
Strongly Disagree	-
Disagree	7
Neither agree nor disagree	39
Agree	32
Strongly Agree	2
Don't know	20

Table C17: Account Managers perception of the extent to which the Pilot has led to improvements in the Providers' quality of service (per cent)

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers)

Table C18: Account Manager awareness of changes to aspects of Provider performance compared to 12 months ago (per cent)

	Worse than before	The same as before	Better than before
Service to job seekers	-	86	14
Service to employers	-	89	11
Business processes	2	50	48
Training and employment outcomes for job seekers	-	84	16
Job seeker engagement	-	86	14
Stakeholder engagement	-	93	7
Staff engagement	-	75	25

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers)

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the Provider	QM	-	5	26	42	18	3	5
Future for the Provider	AM	-	2	48	30	-	20	-
	CEO	5	-	23	59	14	-	-
	QM	-	5	11	61	21	3	-
Future for the industry	QM	-	3	13	68	16	-	-

Table C19: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' Relationships with stakeholders, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers) for Account Manager, 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C20: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' ability to deliver services to job seekers, comparison
between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the Provider	QM	-	11	16	45	21	3	5
Future for the Provider	AM	-	-	36	43	-	20	-
	CEO	-	9	27	45	18	-	-
	QM	-	8	11	60	26	5	-
Future for the industry	QM	-	5	5	68	21	8	-

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers) for Account Manager, 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the Provider	QM	-	11	21	39	18	8	3
Future for the Provider	AM	-	2	43	34	-	2 0	-
	CEO	5	5	32	45	14	-	-
	QM	-	5	16	45	29	5	-
Future for the industry	QM	-	5	13	61	21	-	-

Table C21: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' ability to deliver training and employment outcomes for job seekers, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers) for Account Manager, 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C22: Provider staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)

	No change	Declined / decreased	Improved /increased	Don't Know
Strategies for monitoring and measuring job seeker and/or employer satisfaction	9	5	80	6
Systems and technologies that enable communication with job seekers and / or employers	13	7	76	5
How you communicate with employers	17	2	73	7
Job seeker satisfaction with assistance received	10	3	77	11

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Table C23: Improvements from the Pilot on Providers' ability to deliver improved services to employers, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

comparison between eeos, quanty managers and Account managers (per cent)									
		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell	
Current for the Provider	QM	-	11	24	37	13	8	8	
Future for the Provider	AM	-	2	43	34	-	20	-	
	CEO	5	5	32	45	14	-	-	
	QM	-	8	11	55	18	8	-	
Future for the industry	QM	-	5	8	68	16	3	-	

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers) for Account Manager, 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C24: Improvements from the Pilot on Provider staff understanding of the Deed and DepartmentalGuidelines, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the provider	QM	-	11	16	37	26	8	3
Future for the Provider	CEO	-	9	23	50	18	-	-
	QM	-	3	13	47	34	3	-
Future for the industry	QM	-	-	11	61	29	-	-

Source: Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C25: Provider Staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)

	No change	Declined / decreased	Improved /increased	Don't Know
Staff understanding of the Deed and Departmental Guidelines	7	3	81	9
Your own understanding of the Deed and Departmental Guidelines	8	2	87	3

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 245 responses

Table C26: Pilot has led to improvements in: Internal business processes, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers (per cent)

5		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the Provider	QM	-	3	11	55	26	3	3
Future for the Provider	AM	-	-	18	56	5	20	-
	CEO	-	-	5	55	41	-	-
	QM	-	2	2	55	37	3	-
Future for the industry	QM	-	3	3	61	32	3	-

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 44 responses (by 15 Account Managers) for Account Manager, 17 Responses for CEO, 38 responses for Quality Manager

Table C27: Provider Staff engagement in roll out of Quality Standards and Principles (per cent,)

Response	Proportion (%)
Strongly Disagree	6
Disagree	1
Neither agree nor disagree	10
Agree	40
Strongly Agree	40
Too early to tell	2
Don't know	2

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 245 responses

Table C28: Provider Staff awareness of changes to aspects of their role (compared to 12 months ago)

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't know	Too early to tell
Change the way my role is performed	7	5	23	40	20	2	3
Improved support available in my role	7	4	19	42	25	2	2
Assisted to obtain a better understanding of my role requirements	6	2	16	40	33	2	1

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 245 responses

Table C29: Provider Staff awareness of changes to aspects of Provider business (compared to 12 months ago)

	No change	Declined / decreased	Improved /increased	Don't Know
Visibility of leadership within the organisation	10	6	79	5
Your access to workplace support	18	4	75	4
Access to training and development opportunities	19	4	75	2
Engagement with complementary services (e.g. training organisations and other ESPs)	14	2	81	3

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Note: 245 responses

Munugers und								
		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	Don't Know	Too early to tell
Current for the provider	QM	-	5	24	42	18	3	8
Future for the Provider	CEO	-	9	27	59	5	-	-
	QM	-	5	11	53	29	3	-
Future for	QM	-	3	18	47	29	3	-

Table C30: Pilot has led to improvements in: Staff Performance, comparison between CEOs, Quality Managers and Account Managers

the industry

Source: Account Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014; Quality Manager Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 and CEO Post-Pilot Survey, 2014

Table C31: Provider Staff responses (per cent) to their awareness to changes to aspects of their businesses' compared to 12 months ago

	No change	Declined / decreased	Improved /increased	Don't Know
Staff performance	7	3	81	9
Your own performance	8	2	87	3

Source: Provider Staff Post-Pilot Survey, 2014 Note: 245 responses